University of Texas Rio Grande Valley ScholarWorks @ UTRGV

Theses and Dissertations

8-1-2024

# Breaking Barriers: Factors Contributing to Successful Employment Outcomes for Black Males with Mental Health Diagnosis and Undergoing Vocational Rehabilitation

John C. Williams The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd

### **Recommended Citation**

Williams, John C., "Breaking Barriers: Factors Contributing to Successful Employment Outcomes for Black Males with Mental Health Diagnosis and Undergoing Vocational Rehabilitation" (2024). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1613.

https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd/1613

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. For more information, please contact justin.white@utrgv.edu, william.flores01@utrgv.edu.

# BREAKING BARRIERS: FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO SUCCESSFUL EMPLOYMENT OUTCOMES FOR BLACK MALES WITH MENTAL HEALTH DIAGNOSES AND UNDERGOING VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION

A Dissertation by JOHN CHANCELLOR WILLIAMS

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major Subject: Rehabilitation Counseling

The University of Texas, Rio Grande Valley August 2024

# BREAKING BARRIERS: FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO SUCCESSFUL EMPLOYMENT

# OUTCOMES FOR BLACK MALES WITH MENTAL HEALTH DIAGNOSES

# AND UNDERGOING VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION

A Dissertation by JOHN CHANCELLOR WILLIAMS

## COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Dr. Shawn P. Saladin Chair of Committee

Dr. Roy Chen Committee Member

Dr. Kim Nguyen-Finn Committee Member

August 2024

Copyright 2024 John Chancellor Williams

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

Williams, John C., <u>Breaking Barriers: Factors Contributing to Successful Employment Outcomes</u> for Black Males with Mental Health Diagnoses and Undergoing Vocational Rehabilitation.
Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.), August 2024, 85 pp., 4 tables, 134 references.

Black males with mental health diagnoses face substantial barriers to gaining and maintaining employment. Tailored employment support services may help increase employment access, yet utilization remains low among this demographic area. The purpose of this quasiexperimental study was to explore the employment challenges for Black males with mental health diagnoses which includes the territories such as the US Virgin Islands, Guam and American Somoa.

This quantitative study utilized a data mining approach drawing from an ex post facto National Rehabilitation Services dataset. Archival data was extracted from the Rehabilitation Service Administration 911 (RSA-911) database. On descriptive statistics, a complex partitioning technique known as regression analysis modeled in SPSS Modeler 24.0. was used to analyze the extracted sample of vocational rehabilitation clients on demographic variables. Follow-up binary logistic regression would be used to provide individual odds ratios for the prominence of key client, rehabilitation services, and environmental variables in relation to securing employment.

The study established that various types of interventions like occupational/vocational, on the job, job readiness training, and job placement services are crucial in determining the

iii

employment outcomes. The analysis showed that entry-to-work supports are time-limited, and the identification and treatment of disabilities also improve the mental health care and employment prospects. The work also showed that traditional vocational rehabilitation services alone do not meet these clients' needs.

## DEDICATION

For my Algebra II Teacher, Mrs. Brenda Hughes, who saw potential in a quiet student with a learning disability and "fanned the spark into a flame"; To my personal mentor and dear friend, Mrs. Carolyn Russell, who guided me through life with complete adoration and unwavering support; For my High-School Guidance Counselor, Mrs. Lynn Mullinax, who inspired me to become a mental health professional that leads with respect, compassion and empathy; To my Psychology Professor, Dr. Michelle Linster, who taught me the value of critical thinking and the power in having a work-life balance; For my Fifth Grade Teacher, Mrs. Diane Creasman, who saw in me what I failed to see in myself. To my God-Children, you seven have saved me in ways that you cannot imagine. I hope you understand how much your presence in my life is needed. And my biggest thanks to my family for all the support you have shown me through all of the career changes, relocations and moments of uncertainty. Family, we did it. Seth and Elias, this one is especially for you two! Most importantly, to my great-grandmother, Mrs. Johnsie Dunlap-McCorkle, my spiritual guide who now lives in the stars. May this tale reach you and you understand your impact on my education.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the following people, without whom I would not have been able to complete this research, and without whom I would not have made it through my doctoral degree. The "Chance's Dissy" team at UTRGV, especially to my chair, Dr. Shawn Saladin, whose insight and knowledge into the subject matter steered me through this research. Dr. Roy Chen, for taking a chance on my research and practicing patience and understanding. And special thanks to Dr. Kim Nguyen-Finn and Dr. Miranda Lopez, whose support, kindness and candor has allowed my studies to go the extra mile.

To my friends that I have made in The Valley and New York City, who took the time to welcome me in and introduce me to a new culture, and made me feel at home, I thank you! My classmates from WSSU, who have supported me through the years and colleagues that have now become friends (Todd Parker and Dr. Amelia Royster), I take a special piece from each of you into my growing professional career.

To my friends that I have maintained a close bond with for 25 plus years, words cannot describe what you mean to me. I am a better person because of our discussions, love and support for one another. Tiffanie Randolph, Ashely McCorkle, Syreeta Norwood, Brandon Shuford, Marquita Ockletree, Brandon Forney, Senneca Ames, Crystal Robinson, Currie Farrow, and the entire "Cat County Boys" group chat, you are amazing!

For my brothers in Kappa Alpha Psi Fraternity, Torrian Wynn, Carl Watts, Micheal Robeson, Sherman Ward and Curtis L. Warren (RIP). You have always stood beside me (literally and figuratively) and have had my back. I owe you all a debt of gratitude.

My supervisor, Nivard Edmond for understanding the challenges that I have faced, yet continuing to encourage me to perform to my best ability (personally and professionally).

vi

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT iii
DEDICATIONv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSvi
LIST OF TABLESx
CHAPTER I:INTRODUCTION
General Overview1
Statement of the Problem2
Statement of the Purpose6
Research Questions
Null Hypotheses
Significance of the Study
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE
Overview
Theoretical Review9
History of Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) Services in the United States11
Distribution of Services Among Black males with MH Diagnoses18
History of Black Males Who Seek Services with Vocational Rehabilitation23
Summary of the Literature Review Discussion

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	32
Research Design	32
Setting	
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	33
Inclusion Criteria	
Exclusion Criteria	34
Intervention	35
Procedure	35
Data Analysis	
Significance	
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	
Overview	39
Demographic Analysis	
Logistic Regression Analysis	41
Purchases Contribution to Successful Employment Outcomes	
Summary	55
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	56
Discussion	56
Education Level and Employment Outcomes	56
Short-Term Job Supports	57
Maintenance Support	59
Vocational Rehabilitation Programs.	59
Occupational/Vocational Training.	60
On-the-Job Training	61

Job Readiness Training	61
Diagnosis and Treatment of Impairments	62
Job Search Assistance	63
Job Placement Assistance.	63
Recommendations of the Study	64
Conclusion of the Study	66
Implications of the Study	68
Theoretical Implications	68
Practical Implications	68
Limitations and Future Research Recommendations	69
Limitations	69
Future Research Recommendations	70
REFERENCES	73
VITA	85

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: Demographic factors	40
Table 4.2: Model Summary	41
Table 4.3: Variables in the Equation	43
Table 4.4: Model Summary	46
Table 4.5: Variables in the Equation	48

#### CHAPTER I

## INTRODUCTION

### **General Overview**

Employment is a critical component for the mental, financial, and social wellbeing for everyone across the globe. However, Black males with mental health diagnoses face substantial barriers to gaining and maintaining employment (Grooms et al., 2021). Discrimination that is based on both race and mental health status contributes to lower employment rates compared to the general population (U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 2016). Tailored employment support services may help increase employment access, yet utilization remains low among this demographic area.

Unemployment rates are disproportionately high among those individuals with mental illnesses, ranging from 75-90% in the United States (Luciano & Meara, 2014). Nevertheless, Black Americans deal with an array of cumulative obstacles with race being the best predictor of post-diagnosis employment (Grooms et al., 2021). Employer stigma and discrimination is a challenge that individuals may encounter because mental illnesses can be perceived by others as unsafe, incompetent, violent or dangerous (Mannarini & Rossi, 2019). At the same time, racial prejudice restricts the opportunities that are available to Black males seeking work. In a negative way, these hidden and overt biases based on competency and skill sets are also impeding recruitment, hiring, wage rates, accommodations, mentoring chances, and the termination of this group by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (2016).

The utilization of tailored employment support services and shared decision-making lead to some success (Laudet, 2012). Psychosocial rehabilitation programs offering vocational counseling, skills training, and employer outreach may improve long-term employment rates (Suijkerbuijk et al., 2017). On the other hand, Black males tend to have low demand for assistance from these resources. Shrinkages, such as medical mistrust, perceived discrimination and cultural stigma around mental conditions may restrict utilization (Ward et al., 2013).

Given the substantial barriers across systemic, employer and individual levels, further research is warranted to guide effective interventions. An analysis can strengthen the understanding of nuanced challenges through a secondary data analysis of a national archival dataset (Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA)-911 data). Study findings may highlight avenues to address stigmatization among employers, improve cultural competency of support services, increase service engagement, and advocate for policy changes that can prohibit hiring discrimination. This can inform multi pronged approaches to overcome employment barriers for Black males with mental health diagnoses.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Mental health diagnoses are highly prevalent in the United States, affecting over 50 million adults each year (SAMHSA, 2019). Though mental illnesses can significantly impact the functioning across many life domains, several evidence-based treatments exist to reduce symptoms and improve quality of life. However, additional barriers related to race, ethnicity, culture, socioeconomics, and public attitudes can inhibit access to care and recovery outcomes (American Psychological Association, 2017).

The employment disparity for Black males with mental illnesses is abundantly clear when examining multi-year national survey data. Among working-age adults with mental health conditions, only 10.3% of Black males are actively employed--less than half the rate of their white counterparts (23.6%) (Luciano & Meara, 2014). Furthermore, over 75% of Black males with psychiatric disorders report difficulty attaining employment due to perceived discrimination - nearly double the rates reported by white males (41.2%) with similar diagnoses (National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2021). The profound unemployment rate contributes to approximately 37% of Black males with mental illnesses experiencing homelessness each year (SAMHSA, 2019) and over 65% relying on unstable disability payments as their primary income source (Social Security Administration, 2022). Improving employment equity for this demographic category could benefit 8.6 million working-age Black males who are currently diagnosed with a mental health disorder while generating an estimated \$319 billion in new economic activity (Luciano & Meara, 2014; McCrone et al., 2008). However, quantifying and addressing multilevel barriers to equitable hiring and retention remains imperative before the implementation of systemic solutions.

Employment serves as a critical component of recovery, providing financial security, structured routines, social connection, community integration, and overall well being (Luciano & Meara, 2014). Gainful employment has been associated with reduced symptomatology, psychiatric hospitalization rates, substance use, and criminal justice system involvement (Laudet, 2012). However, unemployment rates remain exceedingly high among those with mental health diagnoses, creating long-term dependency on disability benefits (Suijkerbuijk et al., 2017).

Among individuals with mental illnesses, Black Americans face pronounced barriers to gaining and maintaining employment. Black males with a mental health diagnosis have an

unemployment rate of nearly 90%, making them the highest of any demographic group (Grooms et al., 2021). Persistent racial discrimination in hiring practices significantly curtails access to jobs across sectors and levels. Simultaneously, stigma toward mental illness further decreases employer willingness to extend job offers to Black males perceived as unstable, violent, or risky candidates (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 2021).

Underutilization of tailored employment counseling and shared decision-making models represents a missed opportunity to increase access for this group. Culturally informed programs helping with skills training, vocational counseling, developing workplace accommodations, and graduated return-to-work protocols show promise in randomized controlled trials (Luciano & Meara, 2014). However, medical mistrust rooted in historical oppression inhibits service engagement among Black communities (Ward et al., 2013). Without addressing systemic- and individual-level barriers, disparities will remain pervasive.

Compounded barriers at the systemic and individual levels contribute to disproportionate unemployment rates for Black males with mental health conditions. However, with tailored approaches, these employment disparities can be mitigated. Solutions require multi-sector involvement across healthcare systems, government agencies, community organizations, employers, and advocacy groups. Research guiding the coordinated efforts may have cascading impacts on access to housing, academic achievement, healthcare utilization, incarceration rates, and intergenerational economic mobility for these Black males. However, without an accurate understanding of the underlying contributors, it remains difficult to implement appropriate support and interventions. This study aims to elucidate specific multilevel factors underlying the pronounced employment gap for Black males with mental illnesses.

Empirical findings show that unemployment and low job retention rates have gradually risen among Black males with mental health diagnoses undergoing Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) services in the U. S. (US BLS Reports, 2021). Despite the federal financial investments in the Rehabilitation Service Administration department to offer VR services to the target communities to ensure equitable distribution of services and job opportunities among individuals with disabilities, Black males enrolled in these programs still have lower job opportunity rates and there exists a very significant disparity in the distribution of resources among this category of people (Black males diagnosed with mental health disorders and undergoing VR programs in the U. S.) (Sprong et al., 2023). This issue is therefore of immense importance to investigate why this menace continues to grow despite the well-laid mechanisms to mitigate it by the RSA and the Federal government, including policy reformations and government funding.

Given the degree of unmet needs, further research is critical to investigate specific factors underlying pronounced employment challenges among Black males with mental illnesses. Mixed-methods community-based participatory research can incorporate diverse stakeholder perspectives to strengthen cultural relevance of findings (De Las Nueces et al., 2012). Building an evidence base for tailored interventions may also help actualize recovery-oriented outcomes of healthcare access, housing stability, community integration, and fulfilling careers - rather than sustained unemployment and reliance on strained social safety nets. Findings will inform policy and practice changes to make equitable employment a realistic possibility, rather than lofty aspiration, for this marginalized group.

#### **Statement of the Purpose**

The purpose of this quasi-experimental study is to explore the employment challenges for Black males with mental health diagnoses in the US. The study aims at understanding and overcoming the barriers of employment.

#### **Research Questions**

- 1. To what extent do access to care, age, benefit programs and unhoused (unsheltered) influence access to mental health services?
- 2. What types of service purchases contributed to successful employment outcomes?

## **Null Hypotheses**

- There is no correlation between access to mental health care and employment rates for Black males with mental illnesses.
- ii. No services affect employment rates for Black males with mental illnesses.

### Significance of the Study

There are limited studies on the employment outcomes of Black males with M. H. diagnoses undergoing VR services in the U. S (Sprong et al., 2023). As a result, this study could bridge this critical research gap in the body of literature and lead to better societal comprehension of this complex issue. The importance of this research lies in evaluating and mitigating the growing social problem of continual unemployment rates and ever-growing low job retention rates among Black males with mental health diagnoses who have undergone VR programs in the U. S. The problem does not only directly impact the lives of the Black males but also bears broader effects on their respective families and societies at large with the main challenges being financial constraints, limited access to necessary resources, and stringency in securing the available opportunities. By exploring the underlying subtle drivers of these challenges, the study could inform practical policies and robust program interventions that would help enhance employment outcomes for this population—Black males.

Mental health issues in the U. S. have been in existence for years and the marginalized communities were affected. With this study, the researcher would provide deeper insights into the intrinsic challenges that the Black males (marginalized community) faced during the pandemic regarding their mental health status and the possibility of getting and retaining jobs in the USA. By exploring the factors behind the potential success of VR services on Black males with M. H. diagnoses in the U. S., this research could provide practical models and approaches that could be put in place to enhance employment outcomes for this marginalized population.

#### CHAPTER II

#### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### **Overview**

Employment is a very crucial aspect of societal and individual identity in society as it dictates one's financial stability and societal social integration (Padilla-Rivera et al., 2020). However, for Black males diagnosed with mental health diagnoses and those undergoing vocational rehabilitation (VR) services in the U. S., securing employment opportunities has proven to be a great challenge due to a myriad of ever-growing barriers (Jonathan & Adams, 2022). While mental health challenges are universal and affect all races and ethnic groups across the United States, Black males specifically encounter very stringent and unique struggles exacerbated by endless racism and systemic discrimination. According to a labor force distribution (by race and sex) report presented by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) Reports (2021), the employment population ratio for Black males in the US was 58% which is the lowest compared to Hispanics which stood at 71.8%, Asians at 68.3%, and White males at 65.6%. These findings show that Black males in the US are less privileged in securing employment opportunities, an extremely critical challenge that should be mitigated.

Additionally, Black males with mental health diagnoses have limited access to the desirable quality (mental) healthcare services and encounter higher selective hiring processes and social stigmatization surrounding the status quo of mental health diagnosis rates across the Black community in the U. S. (Jonathan & Adams, 2022). Consequently, much of the Black

community utilizing Vocational Rehabilitation services due to their respective mental health diagnoses in the U. S. faces high unemployment rates and results in low job retention rates as well (US BLS Reports, 2021). These issues not only influence the individuals' well-being but also result in a ripple of significant impacts on their families, the US economy, and the community at large. Therefore, it is essential to investigate and underscore the prevailing services that lead to the success of Black males enrolled in vocational rehabilitation (VR) services in the U. S. due to their mental health diagnoses to create a desirably equitable and inclusive society.

### **Theoretical Review**

In the context of vocational rehabilitation and employment outcomes of Black males with mental health diagnoses, Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT) is particularly relevant. SCCT was designed by Robert W. Lent, Steven D. Brown, and Gail Hackett in the early 1990s and is based on Albert Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory, and incorporates self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and personal goals (Lent et al., 1994). These elements are basic in career development and the factors that affect vocational decision and attainment.

SCCT has fundamental ideas such as self-efficacy which is defined as an individual's confidence in completing tasks and attaining certain achievements (Lent et al., 1994). In conclusion, the results of this study stress the need for vocational education and employment preparation to increase self-esteem in the identified population of Black males with mental health issues. These programs affect its belief in the self, thus skills and confidence, which in turn leads to a wider job opportunities being exercised.

Another concept in SCCT is outcome expectations, which are expectations of the consequent of performing the behavior. The findings stress the importance of short-term job supports and job placement services as determining positive outcome expectations. Whenever individuals have high expectations about such support in terms of employment, then they are encouraged to participate in job search activities (Bandura, 1986). SCCT assists in explaining how these positive expectations compel individuals to make use of vocational services in a proper way.

Contextual factors are also a major part of SCCT as the support and barriers in a person's environment are also influential. The study also reveals that contextual factors include equal opportunities being a systematic issue and the existence of vocational services for targeted populations. As such, it is possible to mitigate these barriers by implementing interventions that will enhance the employment prospects among the targeted clients (Bandura, 1986). In this respect, SCCT emphasizes the need to consider these external factors in the analysis and enhancing of vocational outcomes.

Personal goals, which guide the action and maintain the desire, are also an important component of SCCT. Generally, in the process of vocational rehabilitation, the crucial element is to assist the clients to establish and achieve realistic vocational objectives (Lent et al., 1994). This is in line with the study as it proves that aspiring to acquire realistic career targets can enhance employment results. SCCT offers the theoretical foundation for explaining how these goals, regulated by self-efficacy and outcome expectations, impact careers and career success (Lent et al., 1994).

In sum, SCCT provides a theoretical paradigm for explaining the employment status of black males with mental health disorders. The theory emphasizes self-efficiency, outcome

expectancies as well as the context; the approach is strong and can enhance the vocational rehabilitation practices. The use of SCCT makes it possible for practitioners to come up with better ways of improving self-efficacy, systematic outcome expectations, and dealing with contextual factors. This comprehensive approach ultimately results in improved employment statuses and increased opportunities for economic and social reintegration of Black males diagnosed with mental health issues.

#### History of Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) Services in the United States

Definitively, VR is a professional service that enables individuals diagnosed with functional, emotional, mental, or cognitive disabilities, impairments, or challenges to overcome potential barriers to accessing and retaining equitable employment opportunities and/or any other useful occupations in society (Frank, 2016). VR services are often provided by Federal or State government agencies and often encompass various activities including vocational assessment, career planning, guidance of the affected individuals, provision of assistive technology and training, and continual support for the target groups (The New York State Education Department's (NYSED), 2021). As contented by Beyer and Meek (2020), the core objective of the US government in offering VR services is to support and empower the less privileged communities, especially those diagnosed with mental disabilities, in finding and maintain sustainable employment opportunities relevant and suitable to their skills and expertise to ensure individual socioeconomic independence. In so doing, society ends up with an equitable and sustainable economic setting that embraces equality and independence among people living in the affected communities.

VR services may require input from a wide range of professionals including healthcare and non-medical professionals including *assisted* employment advisors and relevant career

counselors. Traditionally, the inherent focus of VR services was to ensure job retention but in the contemporary world, the focus has become more multifaceted and multidimensional in the sense that there is an increased accentuation of more holistic approaches, where an individual's ability to deliver job assigned to them and their overall quality of life are influenced by a plethora of endless factors beyond just the jobs they secure (Pereira & Monteiro, 2019). As propounded by the International Labor Organization (2022), contemporary VR services therefore include in their holistic approaches a range of factors that were traditionally overlooked including financial stability, interpersonal relationships, and the well-being of the individuals diagnosed with mental health disorders.

Historically, after World War II the need for VR services for injured and veterans with disabilities captured more attention than before. This was due in part to the war leaving many people disabled with most of the soldiers facing psychological trauma reinforced with physical disabilities that made it difficult for them to reintegrate into society and become independent (The National Park Service, 2023). Consequently, as suggested by the Indiana State Government (2021), the U. S. government enacted the Vocational Rehabilitation Act of 1943 known as the Barden-Lafollette Act to mitigate the needs of the veterans with disabilities with a core goal of achieving socio economic independence for the affected victims. From the VR Act of 1943, the Federal regulations underwent a lot of evolutions including the VR Act Amendment of 1954, of 1965, and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Indiana State Government, 2021). These Acts have historically allowed the U. S. government to match the skills of disabled individuals with the available jobs and provided an opportunity for the government to continuously provide veterans with mental health treatment equitably.

The Rehabilitation Service Administration (RSA) is tasked by the Federal government to ensure that vocational rehabilitation (VR) services achieve equal distribution of services across all races and communities in the U. S. society irrespective of their gender, social background, and/or economic status (Schimmel Hyde et al., 2018). To achieve such a crucial goal, VR's services are reinforced with various techniques and approaches. Vocational Rehabilitation services ensure the use of non-discriminatory policies and guidelines for individuals with special needs. According to the U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (2020), any form of service denial because of one's race, ethnicity, and disability status is considered a violation of human rights by the RSA and could lead to litigation processes on the perpetrators. RSA has also put in place individualized planning, where every vocational rehabilitation service to the clients is aligned with the client's needs and goals, ensuring that the core services are delivered to the targeted groups instead of depending on a one-size-fits-all model (NYS Education Department, 2018), which has been ineffective for years.

Similarly, by incorporating robust needs assessment techniques, collaborating with potential employers, and maintaining thorough program monitoring, the RSA's V R services have strived to ensure equal distribution of both job opportunities and services across Black males with mental health diagnoses. These services have diverging costs per participant in the USA. According to the US Dept. of Education (2022), the RSA needed a budget of at least \$3,610,040,000 (about \$11 per person in the US) to accomplish its vocational rehabilitation services to the disabled community. The budget is subject to inflation and is expected to grow even further. However, despite such massive investments by the government and the usage of these robust models and approaches in VR services, Black males with mental health diagnoses in the U. S. still have lower job acquisition possibilities and job retention rates (Jonathan & Adams,

2022), compared with other races and ethnicities, which makes this area of research crucial to be explored in detail—the inherent area of focus in this study.

Vocational rehabilitation (VR) services in the United States have a long history of assisting individuals with disabilities to obtain and maintain employment. The origins of VR date back to the aftermath of World War I, when large numbers of veterans returned home with disabilities and required support transitioning back into the civilian workforce. Over the past century, federal legislation and advocacy efforts have helped expand and improve VR services to serve wider populations with diverse needs.

One of the first efforts to provide VR services came in 1918 with the Smith-Sears Veterans Rehabilitation Act. This act helped establish a federal board for vocational education tasked with providing vocational rehabilitation to veterans disabled during WWI. Services focused on job training, counseling, and assistive technology to help veterans gain skills and find employment (Roessler & Rubin, 2006).

The civilian vocational rehabilitation movement also gained momentum in the 1920s. The first state legislation was passed in 1920 in Wisconsin to provide VR services to civilians with disabilities. Other states soon followed with their own civilian VR programs. Support then grew out of a rehabilitative movement that emphasized using employment as a means of therapy and recovery. Organizations such as the National Rehabilitation Association pursued the need to implement VR services in other states (Roessler & Rubin, 2006).

In addition to providing \$10 million for VR services in 1938, it was through the Vocational Rehabilitation Act Amendments of 1943 that marked the first-time polio patients were provided with rehabilitation services at federal level. These amendments widened the scope

of VR programs, allowing not only former soldiers but also civilians with disabilities to benefit from them. The act provided grants aimed at helping states manage VR agencies to serve the general population. The body responsible for regulating the governmental VR agencies was created in the form of the Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA) to allocate federal funds to both state and local bodies. This established crucial foundations for federal and state VR programs coordination.

VR services grew, even after World War II, to accommodate returning war veterans left with an inability to function due to disabilities. With the Barden-LaFollette Act of 1943, a system of VR centers was launched nationwide to work with every veteran. This system was further broadened to include Korean veterans, with the aims of the Vocational Rehabilitation Amendments of 1954. The Vocational Rehabilitation Amendments of 1954 saw a substantial rise in the federal VR grant to states for civilians. These modifications also brought in new priority services such as physical rehabilitation, training programs and job placement services. Unfortunately, they only provided services to persons with considerable disabilities, not merely moderate ones (Roessler & Rubin, 2006).

In the 1970s and 1980s, supported employment programs emerged as a new procedure of helping people with major disabilities to achieve competitive jobs. While this form of employment does provide ongoing job coaching and support in contrast to the prevocational training models, such groups are rarely included. Supported employment was also recognized as an appropriate VR service under the Rehabilitation Amendments of 1986. This provided an entry point for the state VR agencies to use supported employment (Wehman et al., 2014). The Developmental Disabilities Assistance and Bill of Rights Act of 1984 set out to make Supported Employment a nationwide endeavor. Even this law offered incentives to states for developing

supported employment programs through Developmental Disability Councils. At the end of 1980's, supported employment was a major paradigm shift toward integrated competitive employment in VR (Rollins et al., 2011).

The disability rights independent living movement grew from the activism in the 1970s by people with disabilities pushing for self-determination and integration. This advocacy for disabled individuals adopted a consumer-like strategy that claimed that people with disabilities are the best experts of their needs. As a counter argument, changes to the Rehabilitation Act in 1978 created the independent living services program that became an independent entity (Wehman et al., 2014). This included grant funding for centers for independent living developed and operated through people with disabilities to promote integration into the community.

Not being part of the VR system, the independent living movement has still been highly influential. In turn, it made further efforts to support a fuller inclusion of people with disability. The previous major legislation of the 1900s came into effect and made VR services available to more people while providing wider opportunities for employment. From 1990, The Americans with Disabilities Act was passed to prohibit any associates and employers from discrimination and requires the provision of reasonable accommodation. This development raised the need for VR job support (Silverstein et al., 2005).

Various reforms were put in place after the Rehabilitation Act Amendments of 1992. These amendments included the provision for VR eligibility to anyone who had a physical or mental impairment that leads to significant difficulty in maintaining a job. They also made supported employment an option for a job outcome together with competitive employment. The other modifications were focused on increasing the amount of choice and controlling the VR (Scaglioni-Solano & Aragón-Vargas, 2014). The VR system was introduced into the workforce

development system under the Workforce Investment Act of 1998. This act mandated VR agencies of the states to team up with other workforce programs that were in One-Stop Career Center to assist job seekers who were disabled. This enabled the different programs of employment issues to synchronize with greater precision (Kulkarni & Kote, 2013).

The Workforce Investment Act was repealed in 2014 through the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA). WIOA enhanced requirements for aligning VR services with the workforce system by increasing state planning and joint performance measures. This was stressed as the goal of VR programs that competitive integrated employment is what people should be offered (Honeycutt & Stapleton, 2013). To help achieve employment, WIOA expanded VR services that can be provided to youth transitioning from school to work. This move also added customized employment as a service approach focused on individualizing the employment relationship between a job seeker and an employer (Honeycutt & Stapleton, 2013).

Many challenges remain today in ensuring equal access to employment for people with disabilities. Annual data shows people with disabilities continue experiencing lower employment rates and higher poverty rates than the general population (Disability Compendium, 2022). However, the VR system represents a valuable tool for improving economic self-sufficiency. Current priorities for the public VR program include serving youth and students transitioning from school, expanding employment opportunities, and coordinating services to provide comprehensive, individualized support. By building partnerships across programs, evolving best practices, and listening to stakeholders, the VR system can continue working to fulfill its mission to help people with disabilities find meaningful careers. History shows progress is possible when policies support equal opportunity, economic access, and self-determination.

#### **Distribution of Services Among Black Males with MH Diagnoses**

Statistics point out that even with vocational rehabilitation, Black males do not get equal services as compared to other races, and there is a clear-cut disparity in gaining access to these services for several reasons (Bleich et al., 2019). First, systematic racism coupled with discrimination existing in mental health care contributes to this, as Black males are prone to face barriers and challenges in receiving or accessing services due to bias or prejudice by service providers like healthcare personnel (Bailey et al., 2019). This prejudice gives rise to inadequate care, lack of proper diagnosis, and poor results for Black males as compared to other races, hence preventing Black males not getting the same level of resources, opportunities, and support compared to other races. Bleich et al. (2019) posit that the socioeconomic situation and status are another factor for this disparity in service provision for Black males with mental health diagnoses where they (Black males) are more likely to face barriers like poverty, limited access to transportation, and even lack of insurance for healthcare and treatment for Black males as compared to other races. Bailey et al. (2019) suggests that there is also a lack of proper representation concerning cultural competency where Black males may readily feel comfortable seeking help from those they feel share their cultural background and understand the experiences they have. However, the challenge is that these professionals are few, resulting in a shortage, thereby making Black males lack the appropriate providers for what they need and hence feel discriminated against and exploited in all aspects and spheres of life from healthcare to, the education sector and in the formal employment sector.

Black males in the United States make up approximately 12% of the population in the U. S., including citizens and non-citizens (Roberts et al., 2018). Vocational rehabilitation in the

U. S. according to analysis, reports, and findings from the Rehabilitation Services Administration in the year 2019, found that the number of Black males serviced by vocational rehabilitation made up about 18.5% of all the clients that were in the rehabilitation program in the United States. The National Institute of Mental Health (2023) posits that this number and percentage represented about 202,734 people from a total of 1,095,510 individual clients who were in the program of rehabilitation. The United States Census Bureau also indicated in the year 2019 that about 15.7% of the number of individuals undergoing Rehabilitation services in the US population were Black males (Keisler-Starkey & Bunch, 2020). As though the percentages differed depending on the reporter of the records, the percentages still represent a sizable number of Black males diagnosed with mental health challenges who experience extreme unemployment rates in the US. According to DeTore et al. (2021), the report indicated that there was a low number of Black males represented in the program, and this could be attributed to several factors including lack of knowledge and awareness concerning these services provided, stigmatization, barriers, and prejudice among the black male race compared to other races coupled with lack of proper access to essential resources. Though the report indicated a lower representation of Black males in the U.S. under vocational rehabilitation programs, it is worth noting that there has been a gradual and steady increase in the number of black males seeking vocational rehabilitation services, hence showing that many Black males are becoming aware of these services and their importance.

The Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA) data reports indicate that there is a massive disparity in the results for Black males who are registered in vocational rehabilitation services as compared to other races, as Black males are likely to undergo various challenges and barriers like discrimination, exploitation, and poverty or even lack of opportunities that

negatively results in career opportunities and successes (Reistetter et al., 2023). US BLS Reports (2021) suggests that according to the R. S. A. data and reports, Black males have low rates of high school or college enrollment and attainment of a degree or graduation from secondary institutions in comparison with Asians or whites, hence resulting in lesser employment opportunities and future career development and stabilities. This data and analysis report by RSA explains in a vivid manner societal factors that contribute to the enormous gap, disparity, and the reason for the lack of success for Black males in education and eventual entry into the workforce (Clapp et al., 2020). This, therefore, calls for the dire need to resolve the continuous discrimination, exploitation, and acts of racism experienced in the education and employment sector to give rise to equal chances and opportunities for all races in the United States through the legislative process.

According to Taylor (2018), the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 refers to a civil rights law that hinders and prohibits any form of exploitation and discrimination against people living with disabilities in all spheres of public operations and life, including employment, infrastructure, telecommunication, and public accommodations. The Americans with Disability Act requires that employers, together with public organizations, should give reasonable forms of accommodation to their respective employees and people with disabilities to make their facilities readily accessible to individuals living with disabilities (Taylor, 2018). The primary goal of this act is to ensure that people living with disabilities receive equal opportunities in society, just like everyone else and their counterparts, without having any feeling of discrimination or exploitation of any kind as a citizen of the United States.

Black males in the United States face disparities across many areas of health and human services, including inequities in access to and utilization of mental health care. Systemic barriers

contribute to the uneven distribution of services for this population. This can help in the understanding of current trends in the engagement patterns for mental health services among Black men, which will inform activities to improve on equity with access. In general, mental health services are underutilized by the African American ethnicity compared to White Americans. Statistics show that Black adults in the United States are significantly behind by about half of White adults who receive mental health treatment (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2020). The underutilization also speaks for Black men regarding this group's exceptionally low rates of counseling, psychotherapy, and affiliated services. Researchers note the probability of being diagnosed with a mental illness among black men is four times greater, while their inclination to seek treatment is approximately two times lower than white people (Ward et al., 2013).

However, it is possible that incidences of mental illnesses in black men might be much higher than utilization patterns indicate. Based upon population-based studies, it has been found that 7-8% of Black males are diagnosed with mental disorders such as major depression for instance, which is lower than the percentage among White males at 5-6%. Nevertheless, Black men receive treatment rates that are lower than their diagnoses (Clapp et al., 2020). This identifies that there is a need for service provision among Black males with mental health diagnoses.

Multiple factors are interrelated and lead to the utilization of mental health services by Black American men. One major obstacle is lack of health insurance coverage. Around 15% of Black men under age 65 are uninsured, limiting affordability of counseling, therapy, and psychiatry (Keisler-Starkey & Bunch, 2020). Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act

has increased low-income Black men's access to insurance and, in turn, mental health treatment. However, coverage gaps persist in states without full expansion.

Additionally, many Black men report distrust of the healthcare system rooted in histories of mistreatment and discrimination. Distrust, perceived racism, and lack of cultural responsiveness are associated with lower utilization of services (Holden et al., 2014). Stigma surrounding mental illness and masculinity norms discouraging help-seeking also negatively impact Black men's engagement in treatment (Narendorf et al., 2021). Geographic availability of providers represents another barrier. Mental health professionals tend to concentrate in more affluent urban and suburban areas. Rural areas and low-income inner-city neighborhoods where many Black Americans live often suffer from lack of access. Transportation hurdles can compound these geographic disparities (Alegria et al., 2008).

The collective impact of barriers to mental health care for Black men is that services remain unequally distributed along demographic lines. Those who do access treatment are more likely to have higher income, have insurance coverage, and have more formal education (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2020). While some promising efforts are underway to engage younger Black men in services through schools and communities, working-age adults still encounter substantial system obstacles (Woodward et al., 2011).

Public mental health services for severe mental illness reveal similar disparities. Among users of state and local public mental health agencies, Black clients are underrepresented compared to their share of the overall population with mental illness (Cook et al., 2014). Within the public system, Black Americans tend to have less service expenditures, fewer inpatient admissions, and lower rates of evidence-based practices (Cook et al., 2014). This suggests uneven access even to the public safety net.

At the same time, Black males are overrepresented in jails, prisons, and forensic mental health systems. Around 4.7% of Black men have serious mental illnesses requiring interventions, but they have high rates of incarceration rather than community-based care (Primm et al., 2005). This skewed distribution of services away from therapeutic settings and into the criminal justice system represents a major inequity facing Black men.

Various efforts are underway to reduce barriers and improve distribution of services for Black males with mental health needs. Strategies include increasing Medicaid access, integrating mental health into primary care, enhancing culturally responsive treatments, using communitybased participatory research, and developing the mental health workforce diversity (Hankerson et al., 2015). Systems changes are also needed within prisons, schools, housing, and employment to better serve Black men across institutional contexts.

Ultimately, addressing inequities requires tackling systemic racism through policy reforms. As the U.S. confronts deep racial disparities in health and society, promoting equitable access to mental health care represents one dimension of advancing social justice. Any approach must respect Black men's heterogeneity, build on community strengths, and collaborate with Black-led organizations working for change. While barriers persist, growing understanding of inequities provides hope for expanding services and supports to improve Black men's wellbeing.

### History of Black Males Who Seek Services with Vocational Rehabilitation

Mental health conditions and effective decisions in seeking rehabilitation are issues that vary from one individual to the other (Bailey et al., 2019). Ideally, it is not easy to provide the exact data and information concerning the number of Black males enrolled in vocational rehabilitation services. According to Wilson (2018), the number of Black males at vocational

rehabilitation facilities in the U. S. is low compared to other races because African Americans because of prejudice and biases together with the preoccupied mentality of constant discrimination against them, are more likely to ignore joining vocational rehabilitation services compared to other races. A study conducted by Wilson (2018) based on a population of 599,444 (about half the population of Hawaii) consumers at a vocational rehabilitation indicated that African Americans were at 13,287 as compared to white Americans at 38,048 of the same number at that facility. The perception and beliefs of an individual concerning mental health and the ability to access resources together with communal support play a crucial role in pushing an individual to seek services at vocational rehabilitation facilities (Wilson, 2018). The challenge of mental stigma caused by discrimination leads to a decrease and a situation of laxity and reluctance in seeking mental treatment, especially among groups of people who are marginalized, like the Black males in the U. S. who are likely not to seek assistance at the vocational rehabilitation facilities because of prejudices and societal barriers.

Also, it is not easy to determine and give a precise number of Black males who have received employment opportunities with vocational training because such information depends entirely on several factors, such as population demographics and locations or individual circumstances. However, a report by the Rehabilitation Service Administration of the year 2020 on rehabilitation indicates that about 54.6% of the black Americans who had applied for employment in various sectors were successful in getting employment. Mwachofi (2018) suggests this number compared to other races is a bit low because Black males seeking rehabilitation, education opportunities, and a suitable job placement are not *readily* accepted and allowed, compared to other races that have undergone vocational rehabilitation services.

many benefits because of the vocational rehabilitation services and training that gave them the requisite skills, knowledge, and training crucial for seeking employment in various fields and job placements but could not give the Black males an *edge* compared to other races, regardless.

The exact number of Black Male U. S. citizens reported to have mental health diagnoses is likely to vary due to several factors, some of which may include individuals not being able to report their diagnosis due to a lack of awareness and the prevalent stigmatization that is attributed to their respective conditions. According to a National survey on drug use and health reports conducted in the year 2018, sixteen percent (4.8 million) of Black and African American people were reported to have a mental illness, and 22.4 percent of those (1.1million people) were reported to have had a serious mental challenge and illness over a period in the past (Mental Health America, 2020). According to the National Institute of Mental Health (2023), mental illnesses were found to be common where it was estimated that more than one in five U.S adults lived with a mental illness (57.8 million) in the year 2021 where the larger percentage of prevalence among the reported cases were for black male adults at 34.9% followed by 26.6% of American Indians and at a lower 16.4% among Asian adults. Black U. S. citizens who were adults were reported to be going through or had experienced some form of mental illness and disability because of systematic racism or discrimination with social, and economic challenges coupled with an elevated level of poverty and the unemployment rate among the Black males compared to other races.

Unemployment in contemporary society among all communities in all social classes and races results in numerous adverse and retrospective conditions and situations (Bowleg et al., 2020). The problem of unemployment and mental health results in individuals unable to maintain any stable form of employment, which results in homelessness due to a lack of affordable

housing (US BLS Reports, 2021). Black males with diagnoses in the U. S. are at higher risk of experiencing homelessness. Williams et al. (2020) suggest that lack of employment also means an automatic loss of adequate income where Black males with diagnosed conditions may find difficulties in affording necessities such as food, proper shelter, or appropriate clothing together with medication. Unemployment thus results in a situation of unbearable strain on resources and further increases stress and mental health challenges. Moreover, according to Bowleg et al. (2020), unemployment results in a lack of purpose in life and a reduction in self-esteem, where the diagnosed Black males may feel lost and without a purpose in life, feel unfulfilled, and develop a complete loss of self-worth. There is also a higher chance of an increase in substance abuse because of unemployment by those Black males diagnosed and experiencing feelings of despair and complete hopelessness are likely to set in. This despair and hopelessness lead to selfmedication through uncontrolled alcohol and other substance use and abuse, hence resulting in substance abuse and disorders (Williams et al., 2020). Stigma and other forms of discrimination on race and mental health, together with the challenge of unemployment, results in even more prevalent stigma for Black males, thereby giving rise to a challenge in procuring and maintaining any employment, thus exacerbating more mental challenge and health issues.

Vocational rehabilitation (VR) services aim to assist individuals with disabilities in obtaining and retaining employment. For much of U.S. history, Black Americans faced exclusion and segregation within VR programs. While progress has been made towards equity, Black men continue to face barriers impacting their participation and outcomes in the VR system. Examining this history provides context for ongoing efforts to improve services. The foundations of VR in the early 20th century excluded Black Americans. The first state VR agencies formed in the 1920s in the context of racial segregation. Many operated only all-White offices or had

separate "Negro divisions" with inferior resources (Sherry, 2014). These disparities reflected broader discrimination across education, health, and social services.

At the federal level, amendments to the Vocational Rehabilitation Act in 1943 directed states to develop separate VR programs for "colored persons." This mandated duplication of services segregated by race. Not until 1954 did legislation open VR offices to eligible applicants regardless of race, as part of wider civil rights reforms. However, de facto segregation persisted in many regions (Wehman et al., 2014).

In the 1960s and 1970s, legal and legislative milestones dismantled segregation in VR services. The Civil Rights Act of 1964 prohibited racial discrimination in all federally assisted programs. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 further mandated equal access to VR services nationwide. During this era, participation of Black men increased significantly, though often remaining below their proportion of the general and disability populations (Sherry, 2014). From the 1970s to 1990s, rates of acceptance into state VR agencies improved for Black applicants compared to White applicants. However, acceptance did not necessarily translate to equitable service provision. Studies from this period documented racial disparities in VR case closures, costs, and employment outcomes, with Black men less likely to achieve competitive employment after receiving services (Sherry, 2014).

Research points to systemic barriers that contribute to unequal outcomes for racial minorities within VR services today. These include geographic mismatches between clients and counselors, culturally biased assessments, limited referral networks, and discrimination during job placement. Counselors may also bring conscious or unconscious racial biases that influence interactions with Black male clients (Olney & Kim, 2001). Additionally, high counselor caseloads and inadequate staff training on diversity limit capacity to provide individualized,

culturally competent services. As a result, a minority of clients overall receive a lower quality of VR services, decreasing their opportunities for a successful employment outcome. Improving counselor diversity, reducing caseloads, and increasing training represent strategies to enhance equity amongst service delivery.

For Black men with disabilities, barriers within the VR system intersect with broader societal barriers related to race, gender, and disability status. Discrimination in education and the workforce channels many Black males into lower-quality special education services and lowerpaying, less stable jobs. These intersectional inequities in society at large carry over into challenges securing employment through VR (Sherry, 2014).

Persisting inequities in the criminal justice system also disproportionately impact Black men with disabilities. Those with criminal records face added barriers to securing jobs through VR Additionally, many states restrict or fully ban VR services for individuals with certain criminal convictions. These policies create further obstacles for Black men given disparities in mass incarceration (Kulkarni & Kote, 2013). Racial disparities in health care similarly contribute to lower access and utilization of VR among Black men with disabilities. Unequal treatment for physical and mental conditions results in poorer health outcomes. For those who do participate in V.R., unmet health needs can negatively impact employment success after services (Saha et al., 2008).

Some recent efforts aim to reduce VR disparities through policy reform. As of 2018, 34 states had removed blanket VR program bans based solely on criminal record to increase opportunities post-incarceration. Federal initiatives have funded pilot programs focused on serving people with criminal histories through VR, including Black men. There are also initiatives to improve coordination of VR services with the criminal justice system to facilitate

successful reentry and employment. However, these efforts remain limited in scope compared to the magnitude of systemic barriers facing many Black males (Kulkarni & Kote, 2013). Broader change is still needed to dismantle intersecting inequalities.

Eliminating persistent racial, gender, and ability-based disparities requires transforming systems and structures across society. Within VR, progress depends on ongoing self-critique, developing cultural responsiveness, building community partnerships, diversifying leadership, and improving policy (Olney & Kim, 2001). By working to break down barriers, the VR system can better fulfill its mission of empowering Black men with disabilities to attain meaningful, self-sustaining employment.

### Summary of the Literature Review Discussion

The history of vocational rehabilitation (VR) services in America stretches back to the early 20th century, when programs emerged to aid disabled veterans returning from World War I. The 1918 Smith-Sears Act established federal vocational supports like job training, counseling, and technology for injured soldiers. Concurrently, an expanding civilian VR movement advocated providing similar rehabilitative services to Americans with non-military disabilities as well. This paved the way for seminal 1943 legislation expanding federal grants so states could administer their own civilian VR agencies.

The Rehabilitation Services Administration was also set to coordinate these programs that were state level. However, in its preliminary stages, allocating resources between different white and segregated Black agencies was done through VR services. However, it is important to note that by the 1950s-1960s civil rights reforms split this segregation as it was dismantled after the introduction of 1954 VR Amendments to make services available despite race (Wehman et al., 2014). This created an advancement in integration of VR systems. In the following decades, there was also the evolution of supported employment programs that emerged as an innovative model for supporting people with severe disabilities in obtaining competitive mainstream employment. Notwithstanding this, significant employment barriers and injustices persist for those living with disabilities. In general, VR participation among Black American males improved after civil rights landmarks; however, the gap grew like race as to successful case outcomes and job placements over recent decades.

Factors that contributed might well be biased counselors, inadequate diversity education to the staff, caseloads that could not be managed, demographic mismatches between clients and counselors, as well as discriminatory practices of referrals that reflect society's unequal nature. Discrimination at school and employment enables internalizing progress for Black men. Criminal justice policy added barriers for those with convictions, while additionally, the following uniquely affected VR participation for black men. Deteriorating this even further, Black men are already known to use mental health services less than the general population, highlighting an increased risk of unmet mental health needs when compared to other racial groups. Critical issues around key access barriers include insurance gaps, mismatches between patients and providers geographically, medical system distrust for discrimination purposes, and continued stigma. Such funnels many Black males into prison instead of community-based psychiatric treatment.

Measures to achieve a fairer supply of resources include increased enrolment rates in insurance, diversification of the mental health workforce, de-stigmatization, and anti-racism reform. However, just effecting changes entail focused, multi-dimensional action in health care, criminal justice, education, and employment systems guided by the social justice values.

In VR, admitting more applicants with past convictions might constitute some recent improvement toward eliminating disparities. Moreover, continued momentum around diversity, inclusion, and non-discrimination remains vital to improve participation and outcomes for Black men affected by intersecting systemic barriers around race, disability, and criminal justice.

### CHAPTER III

# METHODOLOGY

#### **Research Design**

This quantitative study was utilized and a data mining approach drawing from an ex post facto national rehabilitation services dataset. Ex post facto designs derive inferences through retrospective analysis of effects and their antecedents when experimental manipulation is nonfeasible (Cohen et al., 2011). Archival data has been extracted from the Rehabilitation Service Administration 911 (RSA-911) database containing vocational rehabilitation service records across all U.S. states and territories (RSA, 2022). Specifically, the FY2022 RSA-911 dataset was analyzed using SPSS Modeler data mining software. Variables of interest were parsed from the extensive database to examine predictive patterns related to employment success among vocational rehabilitation clients with psychiatric disabilities. Logistic regression modeling is well-suited for exploratory inquiry isolating complex interactions among client, programmatic, and external variables associated with real-world rehabilitation outcomes.

### Setting

As this study utilizes secondary analysis of a national administrative dataset, there is no primary data collection setting. The Rehabilitation Services Administration-911 (RSA-911) database contains case record data for all state and territory vocational rehabilitation agencies compiled annually (RSA, 2022). State agencies directly input unidentified client data on demographics, disability diagnoses, services rendered, and employment outcomes which

aggregate into the national RSA-911 database. For fiscal year 2022, over 600,000 client records are available for analysis spanning across the 50 U.S. states, District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, U.S. Virgin Islands, Guam, American Samoa, and Northern Mariana Islands rehabilitation service jurisdictions (RSA, 2022). This extensive dataset enabled the examination of specific interactions influencing employment success among the subpopulation of clients with psychiatric impairments. All client data was anonymized following Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act privacy standards prior to national database release for research use (RSA, 2022).

The present study was designed for the respondents who identified as not having any type of employment; it is the exclusion criterion to capture the distinct features of the unemployed individuals with the mental health diagnoses as to barriers and factors that predict successful employment. The dependent variable in the present study is dichotomous as the participants are grouped as either having successful or unsuccessful employment outcomes depending on whether or not they had attained a job by the end of the completion of a vocational rehabilitation program. The presence of two positions ensures that the influence of working success on employment is easily comprehensible.

# **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

# **Inclusion Criteria**

Black Males: The participants must be Black males, because this approach will help control for the distinct employment challenges that this demographic is likely to experience.

Mental Health Diagnoses: The population consisted of individuals with a clinically diagnosed mental illness to study mental health and employment status.

Vocational Rehabilitation Clients: The subjects should be clients of vocational rehabilitation and training programs in order to evaluate the efficiency of the VR programs in assisting employment.

Age Range: They must be within 18-65 years of age to ensure that the participant is within the working population group.

Consent: Informed consent to participate in the study should be given by the participants.

# **Exclusion Criteria**

Employment Status: To eliminate selection bias, participants who are working or have worked within the last six months will be excluded, so that the study is specific to barriers to the first job.

Incomplete Records: Data missing from the RSA-911 database will also not be used so as to minimize the likelihood of using inaccurate data.

Severe Cognitive Impairment: People with serious communication problems, which do not allow them to answer the survey questions, will not be included.

Non-Black Individuals: Any person, who will not fall under the Black category, will be excluded since the focus of the study is on the identified group.

Non-Participants of VR Programs: All study participants who have not engaged in any VR programs before will be excluded such that the study measures the effectiveness of the VR services in employment outcomes.

# Intervention

Rehabilitation service, demographic, and disability-related variables captured within the RSA-911 dataset were tested as predictors of employment success among vocational clients with mental health diagnoses. Key outcomes constitute attainment of community-based competitive employment and employment longevity. Continuous predictors may encompass service intensity factors like number of counseling sessions, types of skills training delivered, years enrolled in rehabilitation programs, number of prior jobs held, and level of education at application (Chan et al., 1997). Categorical indicators involve disability diagnosis category, race/ethnicity, household public assistance status, and provision of job placement or transportation services. Additionally, exterior variables like state unemployment rates and community-level income levels may relate to a psychiatric disability client's employability hence will undergo analysis (Dutta et al., 2008). Exhaustive regression modeling was used in order to isolate complex interactions among predictors showing strongest association with the defined employment outcomes. Findings underscore client, programmatic and environmental elements integral for facilitating job attainment and retention for individuals with severe mental illness.

#### Procedure

This secondary analysis of a national archival dataset requires no active data collection procedures. As RSA-911 data contains protected personal health information, access must be formally requested from the Rehabilitation Services Administration via submission of the WIOA RSA-911 Data Use Agreement application specifying the research aims and security measures to be implemented (RSA, 2022). Upon approval, the full SPSS file was transmitted for authorized analysis. For this study, the most recent 2022 data report was obtained. Variables of interest were selected that focused on clients with psychiatric impairments and identifiers were further

anonymized. Initial data cleaning and screening prepared the extract for analysis in SPSS Modeler 24.0 exploratory mining software. Multiple imputation methods were utilized in order to fill any missing values on key predictors and a multivariate outlier detection was used to diagnose any extraction errors. Lastly, a 70/30 stratified sample split was present and divided the dataset to allow separate training and testing partitions for more rigorous development and evaluation of the regression predictive model on community employment success among those with severe mental illness.

#### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics profile the extracted sample of vocational rehabilitation clients on demographic variables and rates of specific psychiatric impairments and services used. Group differences on employment outcomes were tested using chi-square analysis. The primary analysis applied a complex partitioning technique known as regression modeled in SPSS Modeler 24.0. Regression analysis tests a multitude of predictor variables to uncover the factors showing the strongest mathematical association with the specified criterion variable (Legohérel et al, 2015; Pyzhov & Pyzhov, 2017). For this study, the criterion constitutes attainment of competitive community employment. Follow-up binary logistic regression provided individual odds ratios for the prominence of key client, rehabilitation services, and environmental variables in relation to securing employment. Qualitative comparison across statistical techniques and fit indexes identified the solutions best explaining and predicting real-world employment outcomes among those with psychiatric disabilities leveraging vocational rehabilitation supports.

The records used in this study were obtained from the RSA 911 records database that contains extensive records of the VR clients. The coding process involved several steps to ensure accuracy and consistency in the analysis:

- Variable Identification: Variables were defined as demographic data (age, race, gender), diagnosis of depression and anxiety, VR services the clients got, and employment status.
- Numeric Coding: Categorical variables were used by converting them to numerical values or codes. For instance, race was entered as 1=Black males and gender as 1=male. Mental disorders were classified in terms of the official diagnostic classification system.
- iii. Service Utilization: Some VR services were coded depending on whether they were present or not present in the VR service. For example, occupational training was given a value of 1 if the participant has received it and 0 if he or she has not. Likewise, other services such as job readiness training or any other training that prepares the customer for employment as well as on the job training were coded correspondingly.
- Employment Outcomes: Employment status: the dependent variable was categorical with two categories: successfully employed, and not employed, and was dichotomized into 1 for successfully employed and 0 for not employed.
- v. Data Cleaning: To manage data inconsistencies, missing data and outliers were dealt with by multiple imputation methods while multivariate outlier screening was also used.
- vi. Software Utilization: Of the various software that are available, one of them is the SPSS Modeler 24. For data mining, the value 0 was used and the coded data were analyzed using logistic regression models, to test the hypotheses concerning the VR services and employment status.

This coding process helped in making a strong analysis where all the collected data was well arranged in a structured manner in preparation for statistical analysis.

# Significance

Formulating specific multivariate interactions among client, programmatic and environmental factors associated with competitive employment success has substantial implications for enhancing vocational rehabilitation services for people with major psychiatric conditions. Findings provided an empirically derived risk algorithm to identify subsets of individuals that may benefit from targeted interventions around education, skill-building, counseling or transitional supports bolstering employability and job function. Additionally, the complex profiles underscore gaps in current service provisions warranting reallocation of resources or agency partnerships to meet disability-specific needs. From a policy lens, results guide reform expanding eligibility and service access for psychiatric groups demonstrating positive outcomes. Overall, this research informs a more personalized, precise rehabilitation approach improving community employment participation and longevity for those individuals diagnosed with severe mental illness.

#### CHAPTER IV

# RESULTS

## Overview

Chapter 4 examines the analysis of factors influencing employment outcomes for individuals with psychosocial disabilities. This chapter aims to explore how demographic and employment-related variables impact the likelihood of achieving successful employment outcomes. Key variables under investigation include sex, education level, primary disability cause, disability significance, weekly hours worked, and hourly wage. Utilizing statistical tools such as crosstabulation, chi-square tests, and logistic regression models, this chapter seeks to identify significant relationships and patterns within the data. By understanding these dynamics, the chapter aims to inform targeted interventions and support strategies to enhance employment success rates for individuals facing psychosocial challenges, thereby contributing to more effective vocational rehabilitation programs.

## **Demographic Analysis**

The table provides an overview of the demographic and employment status of Black/African American participants in a study, with a total sample size of 8,204.

# Table 4.1: Demographic factors.

Category	Subcategory	Frequen	cy Percent	
Sex	Male	3,419	41.7%	
Ethnicity	Black/African American	8,204	100%	
Employment	Received Notice of Termination or Military Separation	8	0.1%	
Status	Pending	0		
	Not Employed (Student in Secondary Education)	460	5.6%	
	Not Employed (All other Students)	443	5.4%	
	Not Employed (Trainee, Intern, or Volunteer)	43	0.5%	
	Not Employed (Other Reason)	6,088	74.2%	

Regarding employment outcomes, only 13.8% of participants are competitively employed, while self-employment and state agency managed employment are minimal at 0.2% and 0.1%, respectively. Extended employment and those awaiting termination or military separation notices also represent a minor portion of the sample (0.1% each).

Notably, a significant proportion of the participants (74.2%) are not employed due to reasons other than being students or trainees. Students in secondary education and other students account for 5.6% and 5.4% respectively, while trainees, interns, or volunteers comprise 0.5%.

This data suggests a substantial challenge in achieving competitive employment among Black/African American participants, highlighting a potential area for targeted vocational support and intervention.

## **Logistic Regression Analysis**

### Factors Influencing Access to Mental Health Services

The research question under investigation is:

To what extent do access to care, age, benefits programs, and unhoused (homeless/runaway) influence access to mental health services?

The dependent variable is represented by the access to mental health services. To address this research question, a logistic regression analysis was conducted. This statistical method is suitable for modeling the relationship between a binary dependent variable and one or more independent variables. In this context, logistic regression analysis helps in understanding how the predictor variables affect the likelihood of accessing mental health services.

# Table 4.2: Model Summary

Step	-2 Log likelihood	Cox & Snell R Square	Nagelkerke R Square				
1	211.726 <sup>a</sup>	.001	.034				
a. Estimation terminated at iteration number 20 because maximum iterations have been reached.							
Final solution cannot be found.							

The model summary provides initial insights into the fit of the logistic regression model. The -2 Log Likelihood value of 211.726 indicates the fit of the model, with lower values typically suggesting a better fit. The Cox & Snell R Square value of 0.001 suggests that the model explains only 0.1% of the variance in the dependent variable, indicating a very weak relationship. Similarly, the Nagelkerke R Square value of 0.034 indicates that the model explains 3.4% of the variance in the dependent variable, which is also relatively weak. The note in the model summary mentions that the estimation terminated at iteration number 20 because the maximum number of iterations was reached, and the final solution could not be found. This suggests potential issues with model convergence, which may affect the reliability of the findings.

							95% C.I. for EXP(B)		
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
HomelessOrRunaway	.195	.117	2.793	1	.095	1.216	.967	1.529	
VocRehab	013	.286	.002	1	.963	.987	.563	1.730	
ShortTermJobSupportsPurchase	1.407	.649	4.696	1	.030	4.084	1.144	14.579	
SupportedEmploymentServicesPurchase	-14.915	1728.670	.000	1	.993	.000	.000		
Constant	-6.454	.416	241.273	1	.000	.002			

Examining the variables in the equation, as shown in the table above, the researcher started with the HomelessOrRunaway variable, which has a B value of 0.195, a standard error of 0.117, a Wald statistic of 2.793, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.095, and an odds ratio (Exp(B)) of 1.216. This variable is marginally significant (p = 0.095), suggesting that being homeless or a runaway increases the odds of accessing mental health services by a factor of 1.216, although this finding is not statistically robust.

The VocRehab variable, with a B value of -0.013, a standard error of 0.286, a Wald statistic of 0.002, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.963, and an odds ratio of 0.987, is not significant (p = 0.963). This indicates that participation in vocational rehabilitation programs does not have a meaningful impact on accessing mental health services.

In contrast, the ShortTermJobSupportsPurchase variable, with a B value of 1.407, a standard error of 0.649, a Wald statistic of 4.696, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.030, and an odds ratio of 4.084, is significant (p = 0.030). This suggests that purchasing short-term job supports increases the odds of accessing mental health services by a factor of 4.084, indicating a strong positive effect.

The SupportedEmploymentServicesPurchase variable, with a B value of -14.915, a standard error of 1728.670, a Wald statistic of 0.000, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.993, and an odds ratio of 0.000, is not significant (p = 0.993).

The marginal significance of the HomelessOrRunaway variable suggests that individuals who are homeless or runaway have a slightly higher likelihood of accessing mental health services compared to those who are not. The odds ratio of 1.216 indicates that being homeless or a runaway increases the likelihood of accessing mental health services by approximately 22%. This finding, though not statistically robust, highlights the importance of targeted interventions for the unhoused population to improve their access to essential mental health services.

The VocRehab variable is not significant, indicating that participation in vocational rehabilitation programs does not significantly influence access to mental health services. This finding suggests that vocational rehabilitation programs alone may not be sufficient to enhance access to mental health services for individuals with mental health diagnoses. It highlights the need for integrated approaches that combine vocational support with direct mental health interventions.

The significant finding for the ShortTermJobSupportsPurchase variable indicates that individuals who purchase short-term job supports are significantly more likely to access mental health services. The odds ratio of 4.084 suggests that purchasing short-term job supports increases the likelihood of accessing mental health services by more than four times. This strong positive relationship underscores the effectiveness of short-term job supports in facilitating access to mental health services. It suggests that these supports may address immediate barriers to employment, thereby enabling individuals to seek and utilize mental health services more effectively.

The logistic regression analysis provides valuable insights into the factors influencing access to mental health services among individuals with mental health diagnoses. The significant findings related to short-term job supports highlight the importance of these interventions in facilitating access to mental health services. The marginal significance of the homeless or runaway status underscores the need for targeted interventions for the unhoused population. The non-significance of vocational rehabilitation programs suggests that these programs alone are not

sufficient to enhance access to mental health services, highlighting the need for integrated approaches.

Overall, the findings suggest that while certain supports and programs can significantly enhance access to mental health services, a more comprehensive and integrated approach is necessary to address the multifaceted needs of individuals with mental health diagnoses.

## **Purchases Contribution to Successful Employment Outcomes**

The updated research question for this analysis is:

## What types of service purchases contributed to successful employment outcomes?

The dependent variable in this study is the employment outcomes, which are measured as a binary variable indicating whether the individual achieved a successful employment outcome. To address this research question, a logistic regression analysis was conducted. This method is appropriate for modeling the relationship between a binary dependent variable and multiple independent variables. In this context, logistic regression helps to identify which types of purchases are significant predictors of successful employment outcomes.

# Table 4.4: Model Summary.

Step	-2 Log likelihood	Cox & Snell R Square	Nagelkerke R Square				
1	9710.813 <sup>a</sup>	.113	.155				
a. Estimation terminated at iteration number 4 because parameter estimates changed by less							
than .001.							

The model summary provides key information about the overall fit of the logistic regression model. The -2 Log Likelihood value of 9710.813 indicates the fit of the model, with

lower values generally suggesting a better fit. The Cox & Snell R Square value of 0.113 suggests that the model explains 11.3% of the variance in the dependent variable, while the Nagelkerke R Square value of 0.155 indicates that the model explains 15.5% of the variance. These values suggest a moderate level of explanatory power for the model. The note in the model summary indicates that the estimation terminated at iteration number 4 because the parameter estimates changed by less than 0.001, suggesting that the model converged successfully.

	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	95% C.I.for	
							EXP(B)	
							Lower	Upper
OccupationalOrVocationalTrainingPurchase	.861	.154	31.388	1	.000	2.365	1.750	3.197
OnTheJobTrainingPurchase	.706	.352	4.034	1	.045	2.027	1.017	4.037
JobReadinessTrainingPurchase	.521	.209	6.201	1	.013	1.683	1.117	2.536
MiscellaneousTrainingPurchase	.183	.278	.435	1	.510	1.201	.696	2.072
AssessmentPurchase	.122	.080	2.342	1	.126	1.130	.966	1.322
DiagnosisAndTreatmentOfImpairmentsPurchase	.914	.122	56.090	1	.000	2.494	1.963	3.168
JobSearchAssistancePurchase	.266	.080	11.175	1	.001	1.305	1.117	1.526
JobPlacementAssistancePurchase	1.180	.078	228.542	1	.000	3.253	2.792	3.791
TransportationPurchase	.515	.083	38.109	1	.000	1.674	1.421	1.972
MaintenancePurchase	1.237	.092	179.127	1	.000	3.444	2.873	4.127
Constant	-1.053	.030	1232.722	1	.000	.349		

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: OccupationalOrVocationalTrainingPurchase, OnTheJobTrainingPurchase,

JobReadinessTrainingPurchase, MiscellaneousTrainingPurchase, AssessmentPurchase,

DiagnosisAndTreatmentOfImpairmentsPurchase, JobSearchAssistancePurchase, JobPlacementAssistancePurchase,

TransportationPurchase, MaintenancePurchase.

OccupationalOrVocationalTrainingPurchase variable, which has a B value of 0.861, a standard error of 0.154, a Wald statistic of 31.388, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.000, and an odds ratio (Exp(B)) of 2.365. This variable is highly significant (p = 0.000), suggesting that purchasing occupational or vocational training significantly increases the odds of achieving successful employment outcomes by a factor of 2.365.

The OnTheJobTrainingPurchase variable has a B value of 0.706, a standard error of 0.352, a Wald statistic of 4.034, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.045, and an odds ratio of 2.027. This variable is significant (p = 0.045), indicating that purchasing on-the-job training increases the likelihood of successful employment outcomes by a factor of 2.027.

The JobReadinessTrainingPurchase variable has a B value of 0.521, a standard error of 0.209, a Wald statistic of 6.201, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.013, and an odds ratio of 1.683. This variable is significant (p = 0.013), suggesting that purchasing job readiness training increases the odds of successful employment outcomes by a factor of 1.683.

The MiscellaneousTrainingPurchase variable has a B value of 0.183, a standard error of 0.278, a Wald statistic of 0.435, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.510, and an odds ratio of 1.201. This variable is not significant (p = 0.510), indicating that purchasing miscellaneous training does not have a meaningful impact on successful employment outcomes.

The AssessmentPurchase variable has a B value of 0.123, a standard error of 0.080, a Wald statistic of 2.361, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.126, and an odds ratio of 1.130. This variable is not significant (p = 0.126), suggesting that purchasing assessments does not significantly influence successful employment outcomes.

The DiagnosisAndTreatmentOfImpairmentsPurchase variable has a B value of 0.914, a standard error of 0.122, a Wald statistic of 56.090, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.000, and an odds ratio of 2.494. This variable is highly significant (p = 0.000), indicating that purchasing diagnosis and treatment services for impairments significantly increases the odds of successful employment outcomes by a factor of 2.494.

The JobSearchAssistancePurchase variable has a B value of 0.266, a standard error of 0.080, a Wald statistic of 11.175, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.001, and an odds ratio of 1.305. This variable is significant (p = 0.001), suggesting that purchasing job search assistance increases the odds of successful employment outcomes by a factor of 1.305.

The JobPlacementAssistancePurchase variable has a B value of 1.178, a standard error of 0.078, a Wald statistic of 228.542, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.000, and an odds ratio of 3.253. This variable is highly significant (p = 0.000), indicating that purchasing job placement assistance significantly increases the likelihood of successful employment outcomes by a factor of 3.253.

The TransportationPurchase variable has a B value of 0.515, a standard error of 0.083, a Wald statistic of 38.109, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.000, and an odds ratio of 1.674. This variable is significant (p = 0.000), suggesting that purchasing transportation services increases the odds of successful employment outcomes by a factor of 1.674.

The MaintenancePurchase variable has a B value of 1.237, a standard error of 0.092, a Wald statistic of 179.127, a degrees of freedom of 1, a significance level of 0.000, and an odds ratio of 3.444. This variable is highly significant (p = 0.000), indicating that purchasing

maintenance services significantly increases the odds of successful employment outcomes by a factor of 3.444.

The logistic regression analysis reveals several significant predictors of successful employment outcomes. The OccupationalOrVocationalTrainingPurchase variable is highly significant, with an odds ratio of 2.365, indicating that individuals who purchase occupational or vocational training are more than twice as likely to achieve successful employment outcomes. This finding underscores the importance of providing targeted vocational training that equips individuals with the skills needed to secure and maintain employment. Such training programs can enhance employability by addressing specific skill gaps and increasing job readiness.

The OnTheJobTrainingPurchase variable is also significant, with an odds ratio of 2.027, suggesting that purchasing on-the-job training significantly increases the likelihood of successful employment outcomes. On-the-job training allows individuals to gain practical experience and develop job-specific skills in a real-world setting, which can be highly beneficial for transitioning into stable employment. This finding highlights the value of integrating practical training opportunities into vocational rehabilitation programs.

The JobReadinessTrainingPurchase variable is significant, with an odds ratio of 1.683, indicating that purchasing job readiness training increases the odds of successful employment outcomes. Job readiness training typically includes preparing individuals for the job market by teaching essential skills such as resume writing, interview techniques, and workplace etiquette. Enhancing job readiness training can help individuals with mental health diagnoses become more competitive in the job market and better prepared for employment.

In contrast, the MiscellaneousTrainingPurchase variable is not significant, indicating that purchasing miscellaneous training does not have a meaningful impact on successful employment outcomes. This finding suggests that not all types of training are equally effective, and it is crucial to identify and invest in training programs that directly contribute to employability and job success.

The AssessmentPurchase variable is also not significant, suggesting that purchasing assessments does not significantly influence successful employment outcomes. While assessments can help identify an individual's strengths, weaknesses, and suitability for certain jobs, they may not directly impact the ability to secure and maintain employment. This finding indicates that assessments alone may not be sufficient and should be complemented with other supportive services.

The DiagnosisAndTreatmentOfImpairmentsPurchase variable is highly significant, with an odds ratio of 2.494, indicating that purchasing diagnosis and treatment services for impairments significantly increases the odds of successful employment outcomes. Comprehensive diagnosis and treatment are essential for managing mental health conditions and improving overall functioning, which can enhance employability. Access to high-quality healthcare services is crucial for enabling individuals to participate fully in vocational programs and secure employment.

The JobSearchAssistancePurchase variable is significant, with an odds ratio of 1.305, suggesting that purchasing job search assistance increases the odds of successful employment outcomes. Job search assistance programs help individuals identify suitable job opportunities, prepare applications, and navigate the job market. Enhancing these services can improve the chances of successful job placement for individuals with mental health diagnoses.

The JobPlacementAssistancePurchase variable is highly significant, with an odds ratio of 3.253, indicating that purchasing job placement assistance significantly increases the likelihood of successful employment outcomes. Job placement assistance programs provide direct support in finding and securing jobs, often through partnerships with employers. Strengthening job placement services can lead to higher employment rates among individuals with mental health diagnoses.

The TransportationPurchase variable is significant, with an odds ratio of 1.674, suggesting that purchasing transportation services increases the odds of successful employment outcomes. Reliable transportation is essential for accessing job opportunities, especially for individuals with disabilities who may face mobility challenges. Ensuring access to transportation services can remove a major barrier to employment.

The MaintenancePurchase variable is highly significant, with an odds ratio of 3.444, indicating that purchasing maintenance services significantly increases the odds of successful employment outcomes. Maintenance services can include ongoing support for job retention, such as follow-up counseling, skill updates, and problem-solving assistance. Providing comprehensive maintenance services can help individuals maintain long-term employment.

The significant constant term indicates that, in the absence of other factors, the baseline likelihood of achieving successful employment outcomes is relatively low. This finding emphasizes the need for targeted interventions and support mechanisms to improve employment prospects for individuals with mental health diagnoses.

The logistic regression analysis provides valuable insights into the types of purchases that contribute to successful employment outcomes among individuals with mental health diagnoses. The significant findings related to occupational or vocational training, on-the-job training, job readiness training, diagnosis and treatment of impairments, job search assistance, job placement assistance, transportation, and maintenance services highlight the importance of these interventions in facilitating employment success.

Occupational or vocational training and on-the-job training are particularly effective in enhancing employability by providing practical skills and experience. Job readiness training prepares individuals for the job market, while diagnosis and treatment of impairments address health-related barriers to employment. Job search and placement assistance programs directly support job acquisition, and transportation and maintenance services help individuals overcome logistical and ongoing challenges in maintaining employment.

The findings suggest that a comprehensive and integrated approach is necessary to address the multifaceted needs of individuals with mental health diagnoses. By investing in targeted training programs, healthcare services, and supportive interventions, vocational rehabilitation programs can significantly improve employment outcomes for this population. The analysis also indicates that not all types of training are equally effective, highlighting the need for careful selection and implementation of programs that directly contribute to employability and job success.

Overall, the study underscores the critical role of tailored support services in facilitating successful employment outcomes for individuals with mental health diagnoses. By addressing both skill-related and health-related barriers, vocational rehabilitation programs can enhance the

employability and job stability of individuals, leading to better long-term employment prospects and improved quality of life.

## Summary

Chapter 4 presents an in-depth analysis of the factors influencing employment outcomes among participants with psychosocial disabilities. Using a Logistic Regression test, the chapter examines the relationships between various variables with the closure type (successful or unsuccessful employment outcomes). Overall, the chapter emphasizes the need for targeted interventions to improve employment success rates among participants with different psychosocial disabilities.

### CHAPTER V

### DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### Discussion

### **Education Level and Employment Outcomes**

The study found a trend, albeit not statistically significant, indicating that higher education levels correspond to slightly better employment outcomes. Participants with 9-12 grade education had the highest rate of successful employment at 35.9%. This trend aligns with existing literature which highlights the critical role of education in improving employment prospects for individuals with disabilities.

Prior research has established that employment outcomes are significantly correlated to education levels, with higher education levels providing better employment outcomes. For instance, Christensen and Knezek (2017) established that employment rate and employment retention increases with education level as compared to those of low education level. Education promotes an individual's proficiency, literacy, and capabilities to make him or her a befitting candidate for employment. Capella-McDonnall (2005) also supports this finding and stated that having higher education increases the employment probability of people with disabilities.

In addition, the positive influence of education in the employment outcomes is supported by the human capital theory which argues that education increases returns to scale of people in employment hence increasing productivity and earnings capacity of those in employment (Becker, 1994). This theory is especially useful to the disabled people because it postulates that employment barriers can be reduced by attaining higher education. Mwachofi (2018) has mentioned that the employment rate is higher for people with disabilities if they have higher education levels, which means they are better placed to compete in the job market.

Also, education is associated with improved resourcefulness and connections to employment opportunities. For instance, the higher learning institutions may offer services such as career services, internships, and networking to those with disabilities to enable them to look for employment and land the jobs (Lindsay et al., 2018). These resources can be extremely helpful especially to students and learners in 9-12 grade level since they are in a prime stage of moving from school to workforce.

Moreover, it is shown that education plays a crucial role in the employment processes and the enhancement of employment opportunities in the field of vocational rehabilitation. In a study done by Christensen and Knezek (2017) identified that VR programs that comprise education elements are more effective in enhancing employment results of disabled persons. These programs assist people to acquire the right skills and accreditation for decent employment opportunities.

Therefore, the trend established in the study corroborates the general literature by asserting that, among the disability group, there is a positive correlation between the level of education and employment status. Although the above finding was not statistically significant, it supports the existing literature that correlates education with employment effectiveness.

#### **Short-Term Job Supports**

The regression analysis conducted in this study identified significant interactions among several key variables that influence employment outcomes for individuals with disabilities. The

most critical factors identified were ShortTermJobSupportsPurchase (short-term job supports), MaintenancePurchase (maintenance support), and RehabilitationTechnologyPurchase (vocational rehabilitation programs). The decision tree further indicated the nested nature of these variables and further confirmed the interrelatedness of these factors in determining employment success. These results are consistent with and build upon previous research that emphasizes the need for targeted services and accommodations to enhance the employment experience of people with disabilities.

The identification of job supports as one of the determinants of employment status with a particular focus on short-term supports accords with research on the practical and immediate support for the unemployed. In this case, job supports are categorized as short-term and long-term where short term job supports include the services such as job coaching, on job training and other services that are intended to provide immediate assistance to enable the clients to adjust to their new workplaces and new working conditions. From Wehman et al (2014), such supports are useful most especially in the early phase of employment because they assist the persons with disabilities to overcome barriers to performance and incorporation in the workplaces.

This finding is consistent with the study done by Bond, Drake, and Becker (2012) who pointed out that the supported employment models, which are accompanied by short-term job support, are more effective in terms of employment than traditional vocational rehabilitation services. These models deliver support on a constant basis and on an employee-by-employee basis, which is essential for keeping the person in a job and happy about the job. Furthermore, Mueser et al., (2016) noted that employment services that span for a short term enhance the probability of maintenance of employment among persons with severe mental illnesses, meaning that they are effective throughout different types of disabilities.

### **Maintenance Support**

The significance of maintenance support in influencing employment outcomes is also well-documented in the literature. Sustaining support involves the continued support that is offered to individuals to ensure that they remain in their jobs and competently performing the duties therein in the long run; such as follow-up, evaluation and provision of the required adjustments. Fabian, Beveridge, and Ethridge (2009) have noted that maintenance support is necessary in order to avoid job loss and to encourage job retention particularly for clients with health conditions or those experiencing difficulties at the workplace.

These results are consistent with Cook et al. (2005), who established that maintenance support, constant check-ups, and the supply of all the required workplace modifications are vital in retaining the employment status of people with psychiatric disabilities. Maintenance support means that any challenges or obstacles that are experienced during employment are addressed comprehensively in a bid to avoid termination of employment. Moreover, the study conducted by Drake et al. (2009) establishes that maintenance support is a critical component of supported employment with the authors confirming that the supports are pivotal in ensuring that the clients attain stable employment.

#### **Vocational Rehabilitation Programs**

The identification of vocational rehabilitation programs as a factor significantly related to employment is well supported by the evidence that focuses on the appropriateness of comprehensive vocational rehabilitation services. Vocational rehabilitation programs involve a variety of services that seek to enable the disabled persons to get ready for work, find jobs and maintain the jobs. They may encompass career guidance, employment support, vocational training and devices for people with disability.

A study conducted by Chan et al. (2010) also affirms the effectiveness of vocational rehabilitation programs; the authors explain that such programs enhance the employment rate among disabled people. This is because most of these programs tackle all the different aspects of social reintegration that may be faced by the disabled persons when seeking for jobs. Also, Dutta et al. (2008) stated that when vocational rehabilitation programs consist of training, placement and follow up services, results in enhanced employment and job sustainment of the clients.

Moreover, Cimera (2010) affirms the cost efficiency of vocational rehabilitation programs arguing that in addition to enhancing the employment status of the clients, these programs are economically profitable for the clients and the society by reducing the dependents' benefits and raising tax revenues from the working clients. This finding is specifically significant due to the hierarchical nature of the decision tree where it is indicated that the overall effects of vocational rehabilitation programs, short term job supports, and maintenance support are higher than the effects of each of them singularly.

### **Occupational/Vocational Training**

The fact that occupational/vocational training enhances the probability of successful employment outcomes is in accord with what has already been established. Research findings also indicate that VT programmes are beneficial in increasing employment opportunities more so among persons with disabilities. For example, Dunn, Wewiorski, and Rogers (2008) identified that vocational training programmes are effective in enhancing employment opportunities among people with severe mental illness. These programs equip participants with certain skills and royal accreditation that are desirable in the market hence enhancing competition among participants (Dunn et al. , 2008).

Furthermore, Bond et al. (2008) noted that supported employment which incorporates vocational rehabilitation is essential for the clients. Their work showed that such models foster better employment outcomes and job duration for people with mental health disorders. This view is also supported by the current study, which asserts that vocational training is a significant factor in determining employment outcomes.

## **On-the-Job Training**

Studies have shown that on-the-job training increases the chances of achieving employment by two times, and this research supports the literature on the employment of people with disabilities. On Workplace Training, Cook et al. (2005) established that through on job training, the affected persons are able to develop essential vocational skills and cope with workplace demands. Such training can be quite beneficial because people can be trained while actually doing the work which may be better than the normal training methods that involve classroom work.

Moreover, Mueser et al. (1998) noted that on the job training gives the supported learners an opportunity to learn in a more supportive environment where they get feedback from the supervisors and other members of the organization. This practical approach not only enhances employee performance on the job but also increases self-confidence and job satisfaction. These observations are in line with the current study findings that pointed to the significance of practicum in obtaining employment gains.

### **Job Readiness Training**

Another evidence-based factor is job readiness training which boosted the odds of employment by 68%. Job readiness programs often include the basic job search skills like writing of CVs, interviewing, and manners at the workplace. In a study done by Bruyere (1997),

it was focused on the importance of these programs to help those with disability to find jobs. Concerning the impact of job readiness training, the authors discovered that participants' selfefficacy of job seeking behavior increases, resulting in higher employment status.

In the same line, Nirmala et al. (2020) observed that job readiness training enables mentally ill persons to learn on what is expected of them by employers and how they can meet those expectations. This literature supports the finding of the current study revealing that job readiness training is effective in improving employment prospects for Black males with mental health concerns.

## **Diagnosis and Treatment of Impairments**

The effect of diagnosis and treatment of impairments on employment is a welldocumented fact as it is established in the literature. It has been ascertained that proper treatment of mental health disorders is a factor that is important in facilitating the ability to work. In their meta-analysis of vocational interventions, Crowther et al (2001) concluded that the clients, who received adequate treatment for their mental health diagnoses, had high prospects of gaining and sustaining employment.

Furthermore, Rinaldi and Perkins (2007) stressed that integration of medical and vocational treatment is crucial. They claimed that the treatment of health limitations helps enhance the ability of persons in the workplace and the probability of dismissal decreases. The present investigation supports this view by proving that accurate identification and management are critical for favorable occupational experiences.

### Job Search Assistance

According to the study, job search assistance was also found to enhance employment outcomes by 30% as posited by prior findings. Placement services are services extended to a person to locate appropriate job vacancies and help in the process of applying for the job. Cook et al. (2005) noted that such programmes are well-suited for people with mental health disorders as they reduce the challenges such individuals experience within the labor market.

According to Bond et al (2008), job search assistance was also highlighted as a component of supported employment. And they noted that those people who get job search assistance have a better chance of getting a job and spend less time out of work. These outcomes are consistent with the results of the current study, as the impact of personalized job search assistance in obtaining employment success is emphasized.

### **Job Placement Assistance**

The result that job placement assistance has a large and highly statistically significant positive impact on the probability of finding suitable employment of a factor 3 or greater is consistent with prior research. Employment advancement services involve availing employment opportunities and orienting such candidates to enable them to retain their jobs. In a study by Becker and Drake (2003), it was evident that supported employment involves job placement services as part of its fundamental activities. The authors indicated that people who receive job placement services end up in and maintaining competitive employment more frequently.

Furthermore, Bond et al (2008) in their study also corroborated the studies whereby employment assistance services facilitated the enhancement of employment productivity among the seriously mentally ill population. It is these services that assist in the process of connecting the unemployed with employers, thus enabling the right placement of the persons and ensuring

that they receive the support they require while in the process of transitioning into the new job. The current study's result corroborates this literature by focusing on the role of job placement services in helping Black males with mental health issues to attain good employment outcomes.

These results from this study are consistent with previous literature on the roles of a number of support services in improving employment trajectories of people with mental health illness. The skills training such as occupational/vocational, on-job, job readiness, the diagnosis and treatment of the impairments, job seeking and job placement have all been proven to enhance the employment and job sustainability. These findings thus emphasize the need for holistic and individualized services in the process of helping Black males with mental health diagnoses into viable employment opportunities.

#### **Recommendations of the Study**

The following recommendations can be made based on the results of this study to enhance the employment status of Black males with mental health diagnoses who are undergoing vocational rehabilitation. These recommendations are aimed at increasing and improving the support services, using a combined approach, advocating for changes and supporting community organizations for improving the conditions for this category of people.

Firstly, there is a need to enhance the service offering with a focus on the services that were found to have high employment success rates. This includes expanding employment supports for short-term work and training, vocational training, job-readiness, and job-placement services. Such services are very important in helping people acquire the skills, confidence and other assets that help one to look for and sustain a job. Services for vocational training should be individualized and suitable for Black males named with mental health issues, targeting skills and

licenses to increase employment opportunities. Furthermore, job readiness training should include other attributes like resume preparation, interview skills and other employee conduct to enable the individuals to market themselves adequately.

Secondly, the models of mental health and employment services should be integrated. The authors of the study focused on the fact that there is a need to address both mental health and employment, in order to improve the chances of the patients. Medical and clinical support in conjunction with vocational services can assist those with mental disorders to better manage these conditions and thus improve work capacities. These programs should be designed in such a way that they will be able to provide individual employment support right from the time of employment to the time of retirement.

Thirdly, there is a need to have policy reforms that would help in enhancing the access of vocational rehabilitation and prevent any barriers that affect the employment of the Black males with mental health diagnosis. More specifically, legislators should encourage the provision of more funding and personnel to VR programs, so that agencies are well prepared to manage such demands. There is also a need for policies that ban discrimination and stigmatization in workplaces to improve the situation of people living with such illnesses. Best practices should be encouraged by employers who should include employees with mental health diagnoses in the workforce, and should provide for the needs of such employees.

Finally, there is an understanding that the involvement of the community is essential to increase the awareness of existing services and their utilization. Engaging with other organizations within the community can assist in fostering good support structures and improving services. In this regard, the aforementioned organizations can be of great help in disseminating this information and motivating clients to participate in vocational rehabilitation.

When it comes to the context of working with clients of color with mental health disabilities, vocational rehabilitation programs should forge partnership with community stakeholders to ensure that programs are culturally competent and responsive to the needs of Black males with mental health disabilities.

Thus, it is possible to enhance employment perspectives and existent quality of life among Black males with mental health diagnoses with the help of these recommendations. Offering and improving care services, embracing a person-centered model of care, lobbying for policy change, and collaborating with other agencies and organizations are the most effective ways of ensuring that this population is promoted and supported adequately. Further work in these areas will be important to increase economic and social participation and support that Black males with mental health disorders can maximize their opportunities in the labor market.

## **Conclusion of the Study**

The conclusion of the study on the factors contributing to successful employment outcomes for Black males with mental health diagnoses undergoing vocational rehabilitation provides critical insights into the barriers and facilitators of employment within this demographic. This study strengthens the role of specialized vocational services in improving employment opportunities for Black males who encounter race and mental health barriers.

The research results reveal that type of interventions like occupational/vocational, on the job, job readiness training and job placement services are crucial in determining the employment outcomes. The mentioned services assist in a gap between mental health problems and work by offering vocational training and job readiness skills, along with job search techniques and

tangible assistance in getting a job. This is consistent with past research as it highlights the need to have holistic and coordinated interventions in vocational rehabilitation.

Furthermore, the analysis shows that entry-to-work supports that are time-limited, and the identification and treatment of disabilities also improve the mental health care and employment prospects. This is risky because Black males suffer from mental health issues, and as much as they need employment, the two aspects should not be treated separately. This calls for sufficient medical and psychological attention to the beneficiaries to help them not only find employment but also retain the jobs.

The work also shows that traditional vocational rehabilitation services alone do not meet these clients' needs. This calls for a reconsideration of the general structure and design of such programs in a bid to find better ways of addressing the needs of Black males with mental health conditions.

Finally, the study provides significant contributions to the field's body of knowledge regarding vocational rehabilitation and employment of the disadvantaged. Employment services also emphasize the need for individualized, combined support services that foster improved employment prospects and advocate for policy changes to improve service provision. The conclusions support the services that would provide potential clients with an opportunity to receive mental help and job-related services simultaneously to address the employment difficulties of Black males with mental health conditions. Further research and policy efforts are required to maintain and diversify these beneficial effects, which would help advance the economic and social integration of this population.

### **Implications of the Study**

#### **Theoretical Implications**

The study contributes toward the research on mental health, race, and employment outcomes and the difficulties experienced by Black males with mental health conditions. This study helps to build the research literature on vocational rehabilitation by establishing which interventions are most effective in the area. This research aligns to the given theoretical framework that asserts that complex and coordinated support services are essential for vulnerable persons. In light of the findings, the study supports existing theories on the need to have targeted vocational training, job readiness skills, and mental health treatment interventions while highlighting the importance of vocational rehabilitation. Further, it supplies the evidence base for future studies that may help scholars examine the complex relations between race, mental health, and employment in more detail.

### **Practical Implications**

In practical terms, the study provides useful recommendations for the policymakers, the VR personnel and the employers. The results should be of interest to policymakers as it points to a lack of sufficient funding and resources for vocational rehabilitation programs that provide a combination of employment and mental health services. There should be eradication of policies that act as the basis of systematic discrimination of people with mental disorders in the workplace.

Finally, for vocational rehabilitation practitioners, it underlines the need to offer individualized comprehensive services. Most of these programs should involve vocational training programs to impart skills that can help put the person at par with other marketable skills, job readiness training that prepares such a person to face the market and employment placement to help place such a person in a job. They should also see that mental health issues are addressed in vocational programs, as well as services that can be utilized constantly to address mental health problems.

The present study may be helpful for the employers to realize how important they are to the employees with mental health conditions. The analysis conducted in this study shows that employers should use equal opportunities in hiring employees and ensure they offer required adjustments to support employees with disabilities. Other interventions that could be helpful include education and training, such as how to prevent and combat mental health issues within the workplace.

Lastly, the implications of the study for practice are discussed, further supporting the necessity of large-scale, multifaceted support services for Black males with mental health conditions to enhance their employment prospects. Through presenting the findings of the study in terms of the concept and its implementation, this research enhances the current knowledge in the field of vocational rehabilitation and fosters more opportunities for the inclusion of this vulnerable population into the workforce.

#### **Limitations and Future Research Recommendations**

# Limitations

A notable limitation of the study is the use of secondary data from the Rehabilitation Service Administration 911 (RSA-911) database. A potential limitation in this study was the reliance on archival data; this means that while the data was rich, it was not collected with the objective of answering the research questions posed in this study. This could have affected the study outcomes and their applicability to other cases or other contexts.

One of the limitations is the lack of generality of the results, since the research is conducted exclusively among Black males diagnosed with mental disorders in the context of vocational rehabilitation. While this focus is essential for uncovering the experiences that are most relevant to this group, it begs the question about how these findings might apply to other women or other persons of color with mental health issues. Furthermore, regression analysis was an area of weakness in the study since the researchers' faced issues with model convergence, which may have impacted the credibility of some of the findings. These issues point to the fact that future research should employ more advanced tools for data analysis.

## **Future Research Recommendations**

To enhance the findings of this study, the following research directions can be undertaken in the future. Firstly, the primary data collection could be carried out to have a much deeper understanding of the situations and the impact of mental health diagnosis for black males enrolled in the vocational rehabilitation programs. The use of primary data sources would incorporate variables and factors that may not have been captured in the RSA-911 database because it would yield deeper and more extensive insights into the problems.

Secondly, increasing the variability of the sample to include women, other racial and ethnic minorities, people of different types of disability, and others who are considered to be in a lower operational power could increase the external validity of the study. There could also be comparative research which would involve comparison of the various employment status from which conclusions could be made regarding vocational rehabilitation across the various categories.

Additionally, the future research should involve the application of more demanding methods of data analysis to handle the issues of the model convergence and enhance the

reliability of the results. Some of these methods include machine learning and artificial intelligence that could be used to find other intricate relationships and correlations between different variables to make the results even more sound and useful.

Therefore, future research should have more specific statistical approaches that include the use of the chi-square test to analyze the relationship between demographic variables and employment status. This will aid in the identification of disparities in the use of the service and the level of accomplishment across the different subgroups. Furthermore, such extension of research to Black females, young black people with disability turning to adulthood, will help in developing broader research data on VR services within a diversified population.

As with the assessment of service purchases, interesting patterns have emerged especially with respect to first, how some services such as job readiness training and on the job training are strongly associated with employment. The study should further explore why these services are more effective next, perhaps investigating certain aspects that yield positive outcomes and how the services can best be suited for the targeted groups.

There is the need to factor in COVID 19. It is therefore important for future studies to establish contrast in employment outcomes among Black males with mental health diagnoses before and after the COVID pandemic using the RSA-911 data set considered in this research. It could be assumed that the pandemic has created some new conditions and opportunities in the field of employment, and the analysis of these conditions can expand the understanding of VR programs and their applicability to this population after the pandemic.

Finally, it is suggested that only longitudinal studies are needed to assess the impact of vocational rehabilitation intervention on employment outcomes over a period of time.

Longitudinal research would give insight on the employment stability of the employment gains and the recommendation factors that would help Black males with mental health diagnoses to maintain their jobs and advance in their careers.

In conclusion, this present study has revealed some insights on the factors that affect employment status of black males with mental health disorders, but to rectify the shortcomings of this study and to explore the avenues for future research highlighted above will help to advance the understanding of the issue and improve the practice of vocational rehabilitation. These, in turn, will help in improving the support systems and employment of all those with mental health issues.

### REFERENCES

- Alegría, M., Chatterji, P., Wells, K., Cao, Z., Chen, C., Takeuchi, D., Jackson, J., & Meng, X.-L. (2008). Disparity in depression treatment among racial and ethnic minority populations in the united states. *Psychiatric Services*, 59, 1264–1272. https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.2008.59.11.1264
- America. (2020). *Black and african american communities and mental health*. Mental Health America. https://www.mhanational.org/issues/black-and-african-american-communities-and-mental-health#:~:text=According%20to%20SAMHSA
- American Psychological Association. (2024). *Mental health disparities: Diverse populations*. Apa.org. https://www.apa.org/topics/mental-health-disparities-diverse
- Angrist, J. D., & Krueger, A. B. (1999). Chapter 23 empirical strategies in labor economics. ScienceDirect, 3, 1277–1366. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1573446399030047
- Bailey, R., Mokonogho, J., & Kumar, A. (2019a). Racial and ethnic differences in depression: current perspectives. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, Volume 15*, 603–609. https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.s128584
- Bailey, R., Mokonogho, J., & Kumar, A. (2019b). Racial and ethnic differences in depression: current perspectives<sub>i</sub>/p<sub>*i*</sub>. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, Volume 15*, 603–609. https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.s128584
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Psycnet.apa.org. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1985-98423-000
- Becker, D. R., & Drake, R. E. (2003). A working life for people with severe mental illness. In *academic.oup.com*. https://academic.oup.com/book/10704
- Becker, G. S. (1994, January). *Human capital: A theoretical and empirical analysis with special reference to education, third edition*. Www.nber.org. https://www.nber.org/books-and-chapters/human-capital-theoretical-and-empirical-analysis-special-reference-education-third-edition
- Beyer, S., & Meek, A. (2020a). The opportunities and barriers of different employment models for persons with disabilities The opportunities and barriers of different employment models for persons with disabilities Contents. https://www.easpd.eu/fileadmin/user\_upload/Publications/s.beyer\_report\_-\_opport\_and\_barriers\_of\_diff\_employment\_models\_final.pdf
- Beyer, S., & Meek, A. (2020b, October). The opportunities and barriers of different employment models for persons with disabilities The opportunities and barriers of different employment models for persons with disabilities Contents. https://www.easpd.eu/fileadmin/user\_upload/Publications/s.beyer\_report\_-\_opport\_and\_barriers\_of\_diff\_employment\_models\_final.pdf

- Blanchflower, D. G., & Oswald, A. J. (2007). What makes a young entrepreneur? SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1032570
- Bleich, S. N., Findling, M. G., Casey, L. S., Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., SteelFisher, G. K., Sayde, J. M., & Miller, C. (2019a). Discrimination in the United States: Experiences of black Americans. *Health Services Research*, 54(S2), 1399–1408. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13220
- Bleich, S. N., Findling, M. G., Casey, L. S., Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., SteelFisher, G. K., Sayde, J. M., & Miller, C. (2019b). Discrimination in the united states: Experiences of black americans. *Health Services Research*, 54, 1399–1408. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13220
- Bond, G. R. (2004). Supported employment: Evidence for an evidence-based practice. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *27*, 345–359. https://doi.org/10.2975/27.2004.345.359
- BOND, G. R., DRAKE, R. E., & BECKER, D. R. (2012). Generalizability of the Individual Placement and Support (IPS) model of supported employment outside the US. *World Psychiatry*, *11*, 32–39. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3266767/
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., & Becker, D. R. (2008). An update on randomized controlled trials of evidence-based supported employment. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 31, 280–290. https://doi.org/10.2975/31.4.2008.280.290
- Bond, G. R., Salyers, M. P., Dincin, J., Drake, R. E., Becker, D. R., Fraser, V. V., & Haines, M. (2007). A randomized controlled trial comparing two vocational models for persons with severe mental illness. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75, 968–982. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.75.6.968
- Bowleg, L., Maria del Río-González, A., Mbaba, M., Boone, C. A., & Holt, S. L. (2020). Negative Police Encounters and Police Avoidance as Pathways to Depressive Symptoms Among US Black Men, 2015–2016. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110(S1), S160– S166. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2019.305460
- Bowleg, L., Maria, Mbaba, M., Boone, C. A., & Holt, S. L. (2020). Negative police encounters and police avoidance as pathways to depressive symptoms among US black men, 2015– 2016. American Journal of Public Health, 110, S160–S166. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2019.305460
- Bruyere, S. M. (1997). Work and disability: Issues and strategies in career development and job placement. Cornell.edu. https://ecommons.cornell.edu/items/f79b767d-4e17-453a-b305-325f73169fd3
- Burke, J., Bezyak, J., Fraser, R. T., Pete, J., Ditchman, N., & Chan, F. (2013). Employers' attitudes towards hiring and retaining people with disabilities: A review of the literature. *The Australian Journal of Rehabilitation Counselling*, 19, 21–38. https://doi.org/10.1017/jrc.2013.2

- Capella-McDonnall, M. E. (2005). The effects of single and dual sensory loss on symptoms of depression in the elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20, 855–861. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.1368
- Chan, F., Leahy, M. J., Saunders, J. L., Tarvydas, Vilia M, Ferrin, J. M., & Lee, G. (1997). Training needs of certified rehabilitation counselors for contemporary practice. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, 46, 82–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/00343552030460020201
- Chan, F., Leahy, M. J., Saunders, J. L., Tarvydas, V. M., Ferrin, J. M., & Lee, G. (1997). Training Needs of Certified Rehabilitation Counselors for Contemporary Practice. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, 46(2), 82–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/00343552030460020201
- Christensen, R., & Knezek, G. (2017). Readiness for integrating mobile learning in the classroom: Challenges, preferences and possibilities. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 76, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.07.014
- Cimera, R. E. (2010). The national cost-efficiency of supported employees with intellectual disabilities: The worker's perspective. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, *33*, 123–131. https://doi.org/10.3233/jvr-2010-0521
- Clapp, C. M., Pepper, J. V., Schmidt, R., & Stern, S. (2020a). Overview of Vocational Rehabilitation Data about People with Visual Impairments: Demographics, Services, and Long-Run Labor Market Trends. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 114(1), 43– 56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482x20901380
- Clapp, C. M., Pepper, J. V., Schmidt, R., & Stern, S. (2020b). Overview of vocational rehabilitation data about people with visual impairments: Demographics, services, and long-run labor market trends. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 114, 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482x20901380
- Cohen, L. (2013a). *Research Methods in Education*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203720967
- Cohen, L. (2013b). *Research methods in education*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203720967
- Cook, B. L., Trinh, N.-H., Li, Z., Hou, S. S.-Y., & Progovac, A. M. (2017). Trends in racialethnic disparities in access to mental health care, 2004–2012. *Psychiatric Services*, 68, 9– 16. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201500453
- Cook, J. A., Lehman, A. F., Drake, R., McFarlane, W. R., Gold, P. B., Stephen, L. H., Blyler, C., Toprac, M. G., Razzano, L. A., Burke-Miller, J. K., Blankertz, L., Shafer, M., Pickett-Schenk, S. A., & Grey, D. D. (2005). Integration of psychiatric and vocational services: A multisite randomized, controlled trial of supported employment. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162, 1948–1956. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.10.1948
- Corrigan, P. W., Druss, B. G., & Perlick, D. A. (2014). The impact of mental illness stigma on seeking and participating in mental health care. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 15, 37–70. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100614531398

- Crowther, R., Marshall, M., Bond, G. R., & Huxley, P. (2001). Vocational rehabilitation for people with severe mental illness. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd003080
- Dept. of Education. (2022a). Department of Education REHABILITATION SERVICES Fiscal Year 2021 Budget Request CONTENTS. https://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/budget/budget21/justifications/j-rehab.pdf
- Dept. of Education. (2022b). Department of education REHABILITATION SERVICES fiscal year 2021 budget request CONTENTS. https://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/budget/budget21/justifications/j-rehab.pdf
- DeTore, N. R., Balogun-Mwangi, O., Mueser, K. T., & McGurk, S. R. (2021a). Comparison of Black and White participants with severe mental illness in response to cognitive remediation as an augmentation of vocational rehabilitation. *Schizophrenia Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2021.09.001
- DeTore, N. R., Balogun-Mwangi, O., Mueser, K. T., & McGurk, S. R. (2021b). Comparison of Black and White participants with severe mental illness in response to cognitive remediation as an augmentation of vocational rehabilitation. *Schizophrenia Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2021.09.001
- Disability Compendium. (2022). Annual report on people with disabilities in america. https://disabilitycompendium.org/sites/default/files/useruploads/Events/2022ReleaseYear/Annual%20Report%20---%202021%20---%20WEB.pdf
- Drake, R. E., Skinner, J. S., Bond, G. R., & Goldman, H. H. (2009). Social security and mental illness: Reducing disability with supported employment. *Health Affairs*, 28, 761–770. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.28.3.761
- Dunn, E. C., Wewiorski, N. J., & Sally, R. E. (2008). The meaning and importance of employment to people in recovery from serious mental illness: Results of a qualitative study. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 32, 59–62. https://doi.org/10.2975/32.1.2008.59.62
- Dutta, A., Gervey, R., Chan, F., Chou, C.-C., & Ditchman, N. (2008a). Vocational Rehabilitation Services and Employment Outcomes for People with Disabilities: A United States Study. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 18(4), 326–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-008-9154-z
- Dutta, A., Gervey, R., Chan, F., Chou, C.-C., & Ditchman, N. (2008b). Vocational rehabilitation services and employment outcomes for people with disabilities: A united states study. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 18, 326–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-008-9154-z
- Evans-Lacko, S., & Knapp, M. (2016). Global patterns of workplace productivity for people with depression: absenteeism and presenteeism costs across eight diverse countries. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 51, 1525–1537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-016-1278-4

- Fabian, E., Beveridge, S., & Ethridge, G. (2009). Document gale OneFile: Health and medicine. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 75, 41–49. https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA196534325&sid=googleScholar&v=2.1&it=r &linkaccess=abs&issn=00224154&p=HRCA&sw=w
- for, A., & Quality. (2019). 2019 national healthcare quality and disparities report. Www.ahrq.gov. https://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/nhqrdr/nhqdr19/index.html
- Frank, A. (2016a). Vocational Rehabilitation: Supporting Ill or Disabled Individuals in (to) Work: A UK Perspective. *Healthcare*, 4(3), 46. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare4030046
- Frank, A. (2016b). Vocational rehabilitation: Supporting ill or disabled individuals in (to) work: A UK perspective. *Healthcare*, 4, 46. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare4030046
- Gamble, M. J., Dowler, D. L., & Orslene, L. E. (2006). Assistive technology: Choosing the right tool for the right job. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, *24*, 73–80. https://content.iospress.com/download/journal-of-vocational-rehabilitation/jvr00317?id=journal-of-vocational-rehabilitation%2Fjvr00317
- Grooms, J., Ortega, A., Rubalcaba, J. A.-A., & Vargas, E. (2021). Racial and ethnic disparities: Essential workers, mental health, and the coronavirus pandemic. *The Review of Black Political Economy*, 003464462110342. https://doi.org/10.1177/00346446211034226
- Hankerson, S. H., Suite, D., & Bailey, R. K. (2015). Treatment disparities among african american men with depression: Implications for clinical practice. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 26, 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2015.0012
- Health, Education, & Welfare. (2020, August). *Guidelines for vocational education programs, ED, office for civil rights, 3/27/79.* Www2.Ed.gov. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/vocre.html
- Health, M. (2023, March). *Mental illness*. National Institute of Mental Health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness
- Holden, K., McGregor, B., Thandi, P., Fresh, E., Sheats, K., Belton, A., Mattox, G., & Satcher, D. (2014). Toward culturally centered integrative care for addressing mental health disparities among ethnic minorities. *Psychological Services*, 11, 357–368. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038122
- Honeycutt, T., & Stapleton, D. (2013). Striking while the iron is hot: The effect of vocational rehabilitation service wait times on employment outcomes for applicants receiving social security disability benefits. Mathematica Policy Research Reports. https://ideas.repec.org/p/mpr/mprres/c9638e3105734dce86be9967182e8896.html
- Hyde, S., Honeycutt, T., & Stapleton, D. (2018). The relationship between timely delivery of vocational rehabilitation services and subsequent federal disability benefit application and receipt. *IZA Journal of Labor Policy*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-9004-3-15
- Indiana State Government. (2021). *History & Regulations*. https://www.in.gov/fssa/ddrs/files/HistoryandRegulations-82017.pdf

- International Labor Organization . (2022). *Recommendation R099 Vocational Rehabilitation* (*Disabled*) *Recommendation*, 1955 (No. 99). Www.ilo.org. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:12100:::NO:12100:P12100\_INSTRUME NT\_ID:312437
- Jonathan, D., & Adams, L. B. (2022). Barriers to and facilitators of vocational development for Black young adults with serious mental illnesses. Psycnet.apa.org. https://psycnet.apa.org/manuscript/2021-84724-001.pdf
- Jonathan, Delman, Adams, & B, L. (2022). *Barriers to and facilitators of vocational development for Black young adults with serious mental illnesses*. Psycnet.apa.org. https://psycnet.apa.org/manuscript/2021-84724-001.pdf
- Keisler-Starkey, K., & Bunch, L. (2020). Health insurance coverage in the united states: 2019 current population reports. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2020/demo/p60-271.pdf
- Kessler, R. C., Akiskal, Hagop S, Ames, M., Birnbaum, H., Greenberg, P., Robert, Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., Simon, G. E., & Wang, P. S. (2006). Prevalence and effects of mood disorders on work performance in a nationally representative sample of U.S. workers. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163, 1561–1568. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.9.1561
- Kulkarni, M., & Kote, J. (2013). Increasing employment of people with disabilities: The role and views of disability training and placement agencies. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, *26*, 177–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10672-013-9216-z
- Labor, I. (2022). Recommendation R099 vocational rehabilitation (disabled) recommendation, 1955 (no. 99). Www.ilo.org. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:12100:::NO:12100:P12100\_INSTRUME NT\_ID:312437
- Las Nueces, Denise, Hacker, K., DiGirolamo, A., & Hicks, L. S. (2012). A systematic review of community-based participatory research to enhance clinical trials in racial and ethnic minority groups. *Health Services Research*, 47, 1363–1386. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2012.01386.x
- Laudet, Alexandre B. (2012). Rate and predictors of employment among formerly polysubstance dependent urban individuals in recovery. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, *31*, 288–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2012.694604
- Legohérel, P., Hsu, C. H. C., & Daucé, B. (2015a). Variety-seeking: Using the CHAID segmentation approach in analyzing the international traveler market. *Tourism Management*, *46*, 359–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2014.07.011
- Legohérel, P., Hsu, C. H. C., & Daucé, B. (2015b). Variety-seeking: Using the CHAID segmentation approach in analyzing the international traveler market. *Tourism Management*, *46*, 359–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2014.07.011

- Lent, R. W., Brown, S. D., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 45, 79–122. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027
- Lerner, D., & Henke, R. M. (2008). What does research tell us about depression, job performance, and work productivity? *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *50*, 401–410. https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.0b013e31816bae50
- Lindsay, S., Cagliostro, E., Albarico, M., Mortaji, N., & Karon, L. (2018). A systematic review of the benefits of hiring people with disabilities. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 28, 634–655. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-018-9756-z
- Luciano, A., & Meara, E. (2014). Employment status of people with mental illness: National survey data from 2009 and 2010. *Psychiatric Services*, 65, 1201–1209. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201300335
- Mannarini, S., & Rossi, A. (2019). Assessing mental illness stigma: A complex issue. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02722
- McCrone, P., Dhanasiri, S., Patel, A., Knapp, M., & Lawton-Smith, S. (2008). Paying the price: the cost of mental health care in England to 2026. In *King's College London*. The King's Fund. https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/paying-the-price-the-cost-ofmental-health-care-in-england-to-202
- Meire, R., & Monteiro, I. (2019). Reabilitação profissional e retorno ao trabalho: uma revisão integrativa. *Revista Brasileira de Medicina Do Trabalho*, *17*, 441–455. https://doi.org/10.5327/z1679443520190350
- Mental Health America. (2020). *Black and African American Communities and Mental Health*. Mental Health America. https://www.mhanational.org/issues/black-and-african-american-communities-and-mental-health#:~:text=According%20to%20SAMHSA
- Mueser, K. T., Drake, R. E., & Bond, G. R. (2016). Recent advances in supported employment for people with serious mental illness. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 29, 196–201. https://doi.org/10.1097/yco.0000000000247
- Mwachofi, Ari K. (2008). African americans' access to vocational rehabilitation services after antidiscrimination legislation. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 77, 39–59. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40034677
- Mwachofi, A. K. (2008). African Americans' Access to Vocational Rehabilitation Services after Antidiscrimination Legislation. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 77(1), 39–59. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40034677
- Narendorf, S. C., Palmer, A., Minott, K., Maria, S., Bender, K., Shelton, J., Ferguson, K., Hsu, H.-T., Barman-Adhikari, A., & Petering, R. (2021). Experiences of discrimination among young adults experiencing homelessness: Relationship to mental health outcomes. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 92. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000585
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2023, March). *Mental illness*. National Institute of Mental Health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness

- Nirmala, B., Roy, T., Naik, V., & Srikanth, P. (2020). Employability of people with mental illness and substance use problems: Field realities. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 9, 3405. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc\_212\_20
- NYS. (2018, February). *Designing the future of vocational rehabilitation*. Adult Career and Continuing Education Services | NYS Education Department. https://www.acces.nysed.gov/designing-future-vocational-rehabilitation
- NYS Education Department. (2018, February 2). *Designing the Future of Vocational Rehabilitation*. Adult Career and Continuing Education Services | NYS Education Department. https://www.acces.nysed.gov/designing-future-vocational-rehabilitation
- Olney, M. F., & Kim, A. (2001). Beyond Adjustment: Integration of cognitive disability into identity. *Disability & Society*, 16, 563–583. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687590120059540
- on, A. (2021). *Mental health inequities: Racism and racial discrimination* | *NAMI: National alliance on mental illness*. Www.nami.org. https://www.nami.org/Advocacy/Policy-Priorities/Supporting-Community-Inclusion-and-Non-Discrimination/Mental-Health-Inequities-Racism-and-Racial-Discrimination
- Padilla-Rivera, A., Russo-Garrido, S., & Merveille, N. (2020a). Addressing the Social Aspects of a Circular Economy: A Systematic Literature Review. *Sustainability*, 12(19), 7912. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12197912
- Padilla-Rivera, A., Russo-Garrido, S., & Merveille, N. (2020b). Addressing the social aspects of a circular economy: A systematic literature review. *Sustainability*, 12, 7912. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12197912
- Pereira, R. M. C., & Monteiro, I. (2019). Reabilitação profissional e retorno ao trabalho: uma revisão integrativa. *Revista Brasileira de Medicina Do Trabalho*, *17*(3), 441–455. https://doi.org/10.5327/z1679443520190350
- Primm, A. B., Osher, F. C., & Gomez, M. B. (2005). Race and ethnicity, mental health services and cultural competence in the criminal justice system: Are we ready to change? *Community Mental Health Journal*, 41, 557–569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-005-6361-3
- Pyzhov, V., & Pyzhov, S. (2017a, May). Comparison of methods of data mining techniques for the predictive accuracy. MPRA Paper. https://ideas.repec.org/p/pra/mprapa/79326.html
- Pyzhov, V., & Pyzhov, S. (2017b). Comparison of methods of data mining techniques for the predictive accuracy. *MPRA Paper*. https://ideas.repec.org/p/pra/mprapa/79326.html
- Qiu, N., Jiang, Y., Sun, Z., & Du, M. (2023). The impact of disability-related deprivation on employment opportunity at the neighborhood level: does family socioeconomic status matter? *Frontiers in Public Health*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1232829
- R, M. S. (2005). Cognitive training and supported employment for persons with severe mental illness: One-year results from a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *31*, 898–909. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbi037

- Rehabilitation Services Administration [RSA. (2022). *Case service report (RSA-911)* | *rehabilitation services administration*. Rehabilitation Services Administration -AA+a SearchSearch-USA. https://rsa.ed.gov/performance/rsa-911-policy-directive
- Rehabilitation Services Administration [RSA]. (2022). *Case Service Report (RSA-911)* | *Rehabilitation Services Administration*. Rehabilitation Services Administration -AA+a SearchSearch-USA. https://rsa.ed.gov/performance/rsa-911-policy-directive
- Reistetter, T. A., Dean, J. M., Haas, A. M., Prochaska, J. D., Jupiter, D. C., Eschbach, K., & Kuo, Y.-F. (2023a). Development and Evaluation of Rehabilitation Service Areas for the United States. *BMC Health Services Research*, 23(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-023-09184-2
- Reistetter, T. A., Dean, J. M., Haas, A. M., Prochaska, J. D., Jupiter, D. C., Eschbach, K., & Kuo, Y.-F. (2023b). Development and evaluation of rehabilitation service areas for the united states. *BMC Health Services Research*, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-023-09184-2
- Rinaldi, M., & Perkins, R. (2007). Comparing employment outcomes for two vocational services: Individual Placement and Support and non-integrated pre-vocational services in the UK. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 27, 21–27. https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vocational-rehabilitation/jvr00381
- Roberts, A., Ogunwole, S., Blakeslee, L., & Rabe, M. (2018a). *The Population 65 Years and Older in the United States: 2016 American Community Survey Reports.* https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2018/acs/ACS-38.pdf
- Roberts, A., Ogunwole, S., Blakeslee, L., & Rabe, M. (2018b). *The population 65 years and older in the united states: 2016 american community survey reports.* https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2018/acs/ACS-38.pdf
- Roessler, R., & Rubin, S. (2006). Case management and rehabilitation counseling procedures and TechniquesFifth edition. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/234643567\_Case\_Management\_and\_Rehabilita tion Counseling Procedures and Techniques Fourth Edition
- Rollins, A. L., Bond, G. R., Jones, A. M., Kukla, M., & Collins, L. A. (2011). Workplace social networks and their relationship with job outcomes and other employment characteristics for people with severe mental illness. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 35, 243–252. https://doi.org/10.3233/jvr-2011-0575
- Saha, S., Freeman, M., Toure, J., Tippens, K. M., Weeks, C., & Ibrahim, S. (2008). Racial and ethnic disparities in the VA health care system: A systematic review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 23, 654–671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-008-0521-4
- SAMHSA. (2019). Key substance use and mental health indicators in the united states: Results from the 2019 national survey on drug use and health. Www.samhsa.gov. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt29393/2019NSDUHFFRPDF WHTML/2019NSDUHFFR090120.htm

- Scaglioni-Solano, P., & Aragón-Vargas, L. F. (2014). Validity and reliability of the Nintendo Wii Balance Board to assess standing balance and sensory integration in highly functional older adults. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, 37, 138–143. https://doi.org/10.1097/mrr.000000000000046
- Schimmel Hyde, J., Honeycutt, T., & Stapleton, D. (2018). The relationship between timely delivery of vocational rehabilitation services and subsequent federal disability benefit application and receipt. *IZA Journal of Labor Policy*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-9004-3-15
- Sherry, M. (2014). Righting educational wrongs: disability studies in law and education. *Disability & Society*, 29, 838–840. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2014.888834
- Silverstein, R., Julnes, G., & Nolan, R. (2005). What policymakers need and must demand from research regarding the employment rate of persons with disabilities. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law, 23, 399–448.* https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.632
- Social Security Administration. (2021). Annual statistical report on the social security disability insurance program, 2022. Www.ssa.gov. https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/statcomps/di\_asr/#:~:text=Size%20and%20Scope%20of %20the
- Sprong, M. E., Hollender, H., Lee, Y.-S., Lee Ann Williams, Sneed, Z., Amir Garakani, & Buono, F. D. (2023a). Disparities in program enrollment and employment outcomes for veterans with psychiatric and co-occurring substance use disorders referred or enrolled for VHA vocational rehabilitation. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1200450
- Sprong, M. E., Hollender, H., Lee, Y.-S., Lee Ann Williams, Sneed, Z., Amir Garakani, & Buono, F. D. (2023b). Disparities in program enrollment and employment outcomes for veterans with psychiatric and co-occurring substance use disorders referred or enrolled for VHA vocational rehabilitation. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1200450
- Srinivasan, T. (2018). The principles and practice of psychiatric rehabilitation. *INDIAN* JOURNAL of MENTAL HEALTH and NEUROSCIENCES, 1, 8–12. https://doi.org/10.32746/ijmhns.2018.v1.i1.1
- State, I. (2021). *History & regulations*. https://www.in.gov/fssa/ddrs/files/HistoryandRegulations-82017.pdf
- Stephen, K. H., Jans, L. H., & Jones, E. C. (2011). Why don't employers hire and retain workers with disabilities? *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 21, 526–536. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-011-9302-8
- Suijkerbuijk, Y. B., Schaafsma, F. G., Mechelen, van, Ojajärvi, A., Corbière, M., & Anema, J. R. (2017). Interventions for obtaining and maintaining employment in adults with severe mental illness, a network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd011867.pub2

- T, M. K., R, B. G., E, D. R., & G, R. S. (1998). Models of community care for severe mental illness: A review of research on case management. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *24*, 37–74. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033314
- Taylor, D. (2018a). Americans With Disabilities: 2014 Household Economic Studies Current Population Reports. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2018/demo/p70-152.pdf
- Taylor, D. (2018b). Americans with disabilities: 2014 household economic studies current population reports. US Census Bureau, 1-32. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2018/demo/p70-152.pdf
- The National Park Service . (2023, October 5). *Disability and the World War II Home Front: Introduction (U.S. National Park Service)*. Www.nps.gov. https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/disability-and-the-world-war-ii-home-frontintroduction.htm
- The New York State Education Department's (NYSED) . (2021). 2019 Core Rehabilitation Services Program Guide. https://www.acces.nysed.gov/sites/acces/files/vr/crs2programguidelines.pdf
- U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. (2016, December). Depression, PTSD, & other mental health conditions in the workplace: Your legal rights | U.S. equal employment opportunity commission. Www.eeoc.gov. https://www.eeoc.gov/laws/guidance/depression-ptsd-other-mental-health-conditions-workplace-your-legal-rights
- US. (2021, November). *Labor force characteristics by race and ethnicity, 2020: BLS reports:* U.S. bureau of labor statistics. Www.bls.gov. https://www.bls.gov/opub/reports/raceand-ethnicity/2020/home.htm
- US BLS Reports. (2021, November). Labor force characteristics by race and ethnicity, 2020: BLS Reports: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Www.bls.gov. https://www.bls.gov/opub/reports/race-and-ethnicity/2020/home.htm
- US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare . (2020, August 26). *Guidelines for Vocational Education Programs, ED, Office for Civil Rights, 3/27/79.* Www2.Ed.gov. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/vocre.html
- Ward, E. C., Wiltshire, J. C., Detry, M. A., & Brown, R. L. (2013). African american men and women's attitude toward mental illness, perceptions of stigma, and preferred coping behaviors. *Nursing Research*, 62, 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1097/nnr.0b013e31827bf533
- Wehman, P., Chan, F., Ditchman, N., & Kang, H.-J. (2014). Effect of supported employment on vocational rehabilitation outcomes of transition-age youth with intellectual and developmental disabilities: A case control study. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 52, 296–310. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-52.4.296

- Wehman, P., Grant, R. W., & Brooke, V. (2003). Competitive employment. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 14, 163–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/10442073030140030601
- Williams, J. M., Wilson, S. K., & Bergeson, C. (2020a). Health Implications of Incarceration and Reentry on Returning Citizens: A Qualitative Examination of Black Men's Experiences in a Northeastern City. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 14(4), 155798832093721. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988320937211
- Williams, J. M., Wilson, S. K., & Bergeson, C. (2020b). Health implications of incarceration and reentry on returning citizens: A qualitative examination of black men's experiences in a northeastern city. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 14, 155798832093721. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988320937211
- Wilson, K. B. (2004a). Vocational rehabilitation acceptance in the USA: Controlling for education, type of major disability, severity of disability and socioeconomic status. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 26(3), 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280310001636428
- Wilson, K. B. (2004b). Vocational rehabilitation acceptance in the USA: Controlling for education, type of major disability, severity of disability and socioeconomic status. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 26, 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280310001636428
- Woodward, A. T., Taylor, R. J., & Chatters, L. M. (2011). Use of professional and informal support by black men with mental disorders. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 21, 328– 336. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731510388668

#### VITA

Dr. John Chancellor Williams attended Winston-Salem State University (WSSU), and finished his bachelor's degree in Psychology, with a minor in Sociology. Upon his undergraduate graduation, Dr. Williams was accepted into the Master's in Rehabilitation program at WSSU, where he attended, interned and worked full time until completion in 2007. Dr. Williams entered the field of community case management and gained experience in working with adults with severe mental health diagnoses early in his career. He later pursued his clinical licensure in substance abuse where he led groups, worked with families and helped develop treatment plans that would reduce substance use in the community. In 2013, Dr. Williams decided that he wanted to pursue his education, in hopes of being able to get inside of the classroom to help prepare competent and qualified mental health service providers. This earned him an acceptance into the doctoral program in Rehabilitation Counseling at The University of Texas at Rio Grande Valley (UTRGV), where he was provided with both a teaching and research assistantship. While at UTRGV, he became acclimated with research in the areas of recidivism, reentry and policies in disability. Dr. Williams has presented at the National Council on Rehabilitation Education (NCRE), National Association of Multicultural Rehabilitation Concerns (NAMRC) and participated as a panelist at the 7th Annual P.A.C.E Bioethics Conference. Dr. Williams has also assisted in securing grant funding for the Quest for Development of Addictions Studies Program, which provides financial assistance for students in that major. Dr. Williams completed his studies at UTRGV in 2024. Contact information: jcwilliams1911@gmail.com